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THREE YEARS KEY FINANCIAL DATA (IN HK$’000)

Financial year ended as at 31 March

“HEERNBRE (TET)

BHEZA=t—"HLUWBFE

2008 2007 2006

—BEEN\FE BB —ET N

Turnover = 245,099 300,334 282,886

Net profit/(loss) attributable VIN/NEIE -SSP N

to equity holders of FEMRET (E8) F58

the Company (21,001) (18,398) 599

Total liabilities LEE 99,134 117,017 100,141

Total assets BEE 187,453 194,104 166,201

Net assets BEFRE 88,319 77,087 66,060

Gearing Ratio BEBELE 65.86% 69.88% 75.22%

4 Bestway International Holdings Limited » Annual Report 2008



Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | hereby present to the
shareholders the annual report of Bestway International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2008

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Review of Operations

The principal activities of the Group during the year were the
manufacturing and trading of plastic products, mainly PVC films. During
the year, the Group continues its principal business activities in the
manufacturing and trading of PVC films in the PRC and recorded a
turnover of HK$245,099,000 (2007: HK$300,334,000) which
represented a decrease in turnover of approximately 18.39% over
that achieved for the last year. Gross profit margin had decreased to
5.25% as compared with last year of 5.27%. The decreased in turnover
and gross profit margin was mainly due to the higher crude oil price
which had adverse effects to the Group in term of sales volume and
costs of materials and the Group had disposed two production lines
to a third party. The sales volume and average selling price per ton
for the year was 21,789 tons and HK$11,249 as compared with 30,140
tons and HK$9,965 for the last year which had a decrease of 8,351
tons and increase in the price of HK$1,284 per ton respectively. The
net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
HK$21,001,000 compared with HK$18,398,000 incurred for the last
year. The Group’s basic loss per share for the year was HK$5.14 cent
when compared with HK$6.19 cent for the last year.

AABRREFZGORREZARBERERAR
REN([ARRA]) REMBAR (I A%EE])
BHE-ZZN\F=ZA=+—HIEHEZFRHK-

Hﬁ /%\

EETEFIRAFEIRBEMASE -

E 3 JE)
&E MO R

REBRFRZETEERALEREEBRER
(XEZABRBA) -FR AEEEENTEUR
EREEBRMIERATEER BEEXESE
245,099,000/ 7t (=& Z + 4 : 300,334,000
T0) R AFEER FHA18.39% - EFIXRT#HE
5.25% - MAFEMEANR5.27% - EEBREF
ETNREEHNEHER LERYAEBZHES
REERBRAERTFEEMB - AEEE R
B EMKEEER - FRAZHEEEREWF
HEBH R AE21,789ME 2 11,2498 7T - WA F A
Hf 2§55 230, 140085 18,3511 - M T MEE B Al
FH9,965/8 JTI& N 71,2848 7T o AN 1A &) L i A% 4
BA AEFEIEA21,001,00008 7T & F F
HA 81 418,398,000/ JT » F A AN & B & ik F A &5
BARSNMEI mEFAAR6.198 -

BRERZERERAT e —EEN\FE5R 5
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Chairman’s Statement

PROSPECTS

In view of the next year, with the effect of all negative factors,
especially the severe price increase of the raw materials, continuing
increase of the PRC production cost and appreciation of exchange
rate of RMB, the prospect of the Group in the next year is still
uncertain.

On June 18 2008, the Group has entered into the very substantial
acquisition agreement with Centre Zone Holdings Limited and on June
20 2008, the Group has entered into very substantial disposal
agreement with Eastern Wide Investments Limited with the aim that
the potential development of the Group could be promoted by business
reorganization through the acquisition and sales agreement.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had approximately 186 full time
managerial, administrative and manufacturing employees of which 23
were based in Hong Kong and the rest were stationed in the PRC. The

Al =

RERF EEBRTMNERFEZT LEEREM
HESST BRZEEREIRAREERFE
A EEHRKRENREZD AR

E-ZZNEFERXA+ N\ B KAEEECenter Zone
Holdings Limited 2 :] E B EAR K ERZE RE—-F
T \F 7N A =+ B HEastern Wide Investments
LimitedB i EREALEHE HLEHELFEBRT
REBERENEHBEEEEL UWRASFEZRE
BRB T

==

R-ZBENF=A=+—H AEEEHL186%
BEERE TRREETZEZRBES -EF23A

%175“15 AR N B TRIEER P B TR M EF

| o M

staff number and their respective duties for both years are set out in EZREBEABRESE ZBE:
the following table:
2008 2007
—sENE —ETLE
General administration & accounting —RAITHEE A 34 61
Sales & marketing HERMSHERE 9 13
Material procurement & quality control &L & ' E 35 4l 7 45
Manufacturing & warehousing BENEE 136 163
186 282

The Group affords competitive remuneration packages to its employees
based on prevailing industry practice and provides to most of its
employees in the PRC with rent-free quarters and messing.
Compensation policies are reviewed regularly and are designed to
reward and motivate productivity and performance.

6 Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008

AEERBERITENEAEERIARF L
I Y AAMOBEANEERREGEEERER
ARBEHRATMEBR EERBRRETERE
ZEENREKRR-



BREE

Chairman’s Statement

All of the outstanding employee share options were lapsed on 24
March 2008 which was granted on 25 September 2006 to enhance
executive/non-executive directors and employees’ contributions and
continued services to the Company. No share option had been exercised
during 25 September 2006 to 24 March 2008.

APPRECIATION

I would like to extend my gratitude to the members of the board of
directors, our management team and staff for their loyalty and
dedication during the past year. On behalf of the Board of Directors, |
wish to convey our most sincere appreciation of the staunch support
to our Group from all of our customers, suppliers and bankers during
the year.

Tang Kuan Chien
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 July 2008

BHBIT ERTESREEZERMRERR
E—HAARRAREMR -_ZEENFLA-TH
BEEMERTEZBEREERE ER=2F
ENF=ZAZF+HEBRBM-R_ZEENFNAZ
+HEEBE-_ZE)NF=ZF -+ HE B HE
ETHE IR e AT (& o

&)

AAERUEZES ERERBINBE—F
ZBBRBELEBMRTHAB - AAERKRESS
BAKBERAETF HEBRERBRITREFAY
AEEZBAIXFRRHIM
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group during the year were the
manufacturing and trading of plastic products, mainly PVC films. During
the year, the Group continues its principal business activities in the
manufacturing and trading of PVC films in the PRC and recorded a
turnover of HK$245,099,000 (2007: HK$300,334,000) which
represented a decrease in turnover of approximately 18.39% over
that achieved for the last year. Gross profit margin had decreased to
5.25% as compared with last year of 5.27%. The decreased in turnover
and gross profit margin was mainly due to the higher crude oil price
which had adverse effects to the Group in term of sales volume and
costs of materials and the Group had disposed two production lines
to a third party. The sales volume and average selling price per ton
for the year was 21,789 tons and HK$11,249 as compared with 30,140
tons and HK$9,965 for the last year which had a decrease of 8,351
tons and increase in the price of HK$1,284 per ton respectively. The
net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
HK$21,001,000 compared with HK$18,398,000 incurred for the last
year. The Group's basic loss per share for the year was HK$5.14 cent
when compared with HK$6.19 cent for the last year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s bank and other borrowings was
amounted to HK$58,164,000 which was an increase of HK$4,294,000
from its borrowings of HK$53,870,000 at the year ended 31 March
2007.

Of the Group’s total borrowings at 31 March 2008:
(i) HK$25,517,000 is at floating interest rates and HK$32,647,000
is at fixed interest rates.

(ii) 2.57% is denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and 53.56% is
denominated in Renminbi and 43.87% in United States Dollars.

Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to HK$35,251,000 (as at 31 March 2007: HK$35,233,000). The Group'’s
net asset value amounted to approximately HK$88,319,000 (as at 31
March 2007: HK$77,087,000) with total assets approximately
HK$187,453,000 (as at 31 March 2007: HK$194,104,000). Net current
assets were approximately HK$34,208,000 (as at 31 March 2007:
HK$21,140,000) and the current ratio was 1.39 times (as at 31 March
2007: 1.20 times). The gearing ratio, expressed as the percentage of
total borrowings to total net assets, was 65.86% as at 31 March
2008 (as at 31 March 2007: 69.88%)

A wholly owned subsidiary, Dongguan Best Faith Plastic Products
Limited (DG Best Faith) had applied for an increase of registered capital
by USD3,570,000 from USD6,430,000 to USD10,000,000, which has
been approved on 7 June 2007.

A 97.65% owned subsidiary, Dongguan Bestway Plastic Manufactory
(DG Bestway) originally had four production lines in existing, two of
production lines were disposed to its wholly owned subsidiary, DG
Best Faith located at Shi Shui Kou Villiage, Qiao Tou Town, Dongguan
City. And the remaining of two production lines in DG Bestway were
disposed to a third party namely #B8fE L2 T EZEFR QA as at
a total consideration price of RMB6,800,000 which has a net book
value of RMB2,786,000. A gain of RMB3,524,000 arised from the
disposal after the expense.

On 23 August 2007, the Company has announced to allot 51,000,000
New Shares at HK$0.41 per Share to Wealthy Pod Limited which is
incorporated in British Virgins Islands and is wholly owned by Mr. Ng
Kin Wah (Mr. Ng). Mr. Ng is the independent third party and not
connected with the Company or its connected persons (as defined in
the Listing Rules). The net proceeds of the Subscription was
approximately HK$20.9 million and used as general working capital.
The completion of the allotment was on 22 October 2007.

On 7 November 2007, the Company with the Vendor (“Mr. Suen”)
had entered into an Acquisition Agreement to acquire a biodiesel
plant in Suzhou at a total consideration of HK$1,100 million. But on
29 January 2008, the Company announced that Acquisition was
cancelled which was due to difficulty in obtain financing.

R-ZZETZNFZA=Z+—8B mEBZRTLET
1238 ©35,251,0008 7T (RZEZLF=HA=+
—H:35,233,000 ) - ANEE EEFELN R
88,319,000 7L (R=ZZEZE+F=A=+—8:
77,087,000 7T) + i & E 4 {E %) £187,453,000
Bl (RZEZ+EF=A=+—H:194,104,000
BIT) o mE)EF(E L) B34,208,0008 T (M=%
THE=F=+—H:21,140,000% 7T) * M i &
LExRBIA139F (RZETHF=A=+—8:
1.200%) - BEEARE t?w BRBELEEFER

MBI ER R_ZEENF=A=1+—HB%A
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G BREFEAARY2,786,000t - KB ERE
JEF A RM3,524,0007T

RZZZEFNAZ+=H BRFRXMHUAFR
0.41% JT [l Wealthy Pod lelted@ﬁé&smooo,ooo
J% %7 % > Wealthy Pod Limited B KB R Z B S
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NElehERBART REBEAT (EER L
MHRAD MEEECBUE=F -REFHE AT
FRIEFEE 49 /20,900,00058 700 WA E— & &
B -BEBEHRER_ZTTLFT+AZ+ZAE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the following events had
occurred:—

On 18 June 2008, the Company has entered into the Acquisition
Agreement with the Vendor (Center Zone Holdings Limited) and the
Warrantor (Wu Senqiang) to acquire Sale Shares and Sales Debts of
two Mongolia Companies namely as Ou Ya Tou Zi Co., Limited
("Existing Metal Company”) and Ou Ya Shi You Co., Limited (Existing
Coal Company). Existing Metal Company is the holder of Mining
Licence of exploitation and mining of the Metal Resources covering
4.88 square k.m. Existing Coal Company is the holder Mining Licence
of covering a site area of not less than 200 square k.m. and the
exploration, mining and exploitation of Coal Resources.

The Acquisition Price for the two Acquisitions is HK$6,980 million, in
which the Existing Metal Company Acquisition is HK$1,280 million
(subject to adjustments) which is to be satisfied to the extent of
HK$15 million by refundable deposit in cash; to the extent of HK$1,185
million by issue of zero coupon convertible bonds (“First Conversion
Shares”) and to the extent of HK$80 million by issue of Promissory
Note.

The Existing Coal Company Acquisition is HK$5,700 million (subject
to adjustments) which is to be satisfied to the extent of HK$5,700
million by issue of zero coupon convertible bonds (“Second Conversion
Shares”).

On 20 June 2008, the Company has entered into the Disposal
Agreement with the Disposal Purchaser namely as Eastern Wide
Investments Limited. The Company agreed to sell and the Disposal
Purchaser agreed to purchase the Disposal Sales shares and the Disposal
Sale Loans of Bestway Plastic Products Limited, Best Faith Plastic
Products Limited and Bestget Plastic Products Limited and the
Machineries of Rich Ocean Limited at a consideration price of
approximately HK$78.8 million which is subject to adjustments of the
audited figure as at 31 March 2008.

Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Acquisition and the Disposal constitute a very substantial
acquisition and a very substantial disposal for the Company respectively
under Chapter 14 of Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and are subject to the Shareholders’ approval. A circular
and the notice of the SGM are being prepared by the Company, once
it is well prepared, the Company will despatch to the Shareholders as
soon as practicable.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group has spent
HK$7,648,000 for the modification charge of existing plant and
equipment, furniture and fixture (2007: HK$6,268,000)

CHARGE ON GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group pledged bank deposits of HK$11,541,000 as at 31 March
2008 (as at 31 March 2007: HK$8,370,000) in return for granting
banking facilities of USD4,000,000 by a principal banker. Certain of
the Group’s medium term leasehold land and the building with
net book value of HK$13,953,000 (as at 31 March 2007:
HK$12,518,000) which were pledged to secure a loan of RMB10 million
granted to the Group.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE
FLUCTUATION

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD"), Renminbi (“RMB") and
United States Dollars (“USD"). As all of the Group’s production plants
are based in the People’s Republic of China, most wages and salaries
and manufacturing overheads are mainly denominated in RMB. Hence,
appreciation of the RMB against USD during the year had affected
the loss of the Group.

The management has adopted a plan to mitigate the impact of USD
depreciation in relation of RMB by the way of convert group’s assets
in terms of USD in PRC to RMB.

REBEMARZMBRAR LETRAUE 14T
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2008, the Group gave a guarantee of banking facilities
granted to independent third parties amounting to HK$6,647,000 (as
at 31 March 2007: HK$6,074,000).

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had approximately 186 employees
full time managerial, administrative and manufacturing employees.
The Group affords competitive remuneration packages to its employees
based on prevailing and industry practice and provides most of its
employees in the PRC with rent-free quarters and messings.
Compensation policies are reviewed regularly and are designed to
reward and motivate productivity and performance.

All of the outstanding employee share options were lapsed on 24
March 2008 which was granted on 25 September 2006 to enhance
executive/non-executive directors and employees’ contributions and
continued services to the Company. No share option had been exercised
during 25 September 2006 to 24 March 2008.

12 Bestway International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2008
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual Report are
as follows:

Mr. Tang Kuan Chien Chairman
Mr. Tang Wei Lun

Mr. Lam Chi Yin Henry
Mr. Chim Kim Lun Ricky

Executive Director

Executive Director

Executive Director (Appointed on 17
September 2007)

Executive Director (Appointed on 17
September 2007)

Executive Director (Resigned on 27

Mr. Fok Po Tin

Mr. Cheung Ming Leung

Denver June 2007)
Mr. Ng Man Kin Kenneth  Executive Director (Appointed on 1 June
2007)

Mr. Hung Shean-
Mr. Wong Nai Ping
Mr. Au Kwok Yee Benjamin Independent Non-Executive Director

Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director

DIRECTORS

Details of the Directors are as follows:

Mr. Tang Kuan Chien, aged 63, is responsible for the day to day
management and operations of the Group. He joined the Group in
August 1995 as President and has over 32 years of working experience
in the plastics industry in Taiwan, Hong Kong and the PRC. He was
appointed as Chairman on 18 December 1998.

Mr. Tang Wei Lun, aged 34, is the son of Mr. Tang Kuan Chien, the
chairman and a substantial shareholder of the Company. He joined
the Company in 2003. He obtained a Bachelor of Management from
the University of Western Sydney, Australia. Prior to joining the
company, Mr. Tang had worked in the banking industry in Australia
for several years. He was a member and the secretary of the
management committee of the Australia Chinese Charity Foundation.
He is currently the deputy manager responsible for the supervision of
the production and sales operation of the Group.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

Mr. Lam Chi Yin Henry, age 42, is a Certified Public Accountant in
Hong Kong. He has over 12 years of experience in financial
management and holds a Master degree in investment management
from the Hong Kong University of Science & Technology. Mr. Lam
worked at the senior management level of several securities companies
which are listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, including Okasan
International Asia Limited and Takagi Securities (HK) Ltd, a subsidiary
of Nomura Securities Co. Ltd. He was the managing director of GOA
Group (International) Limited and GOA Securities Limited. Mr. Lam
was also the company secretary of a listed company in Hong Kong,
namely Prime Investment Holdings Limited from February 2004 to
May 2005. Mr. Lam is mainly responsible for the funds raising of the
Group.

Mr. Chim Kim Lun Ricky, aged 38, holds a Bachelor degree in Arts
from the University of British Columbia in Canada and has over 10
years of commercial and industrial experiences and of experience in
investment. Mr. Chim is an executive director of Bel Global Resources
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 761), Yueshou Environmental Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1191), China Fair Land Holdings Limited (stock
code: 169) and Karce International Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 1159), which are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Fok Po Tin aged 48, holds Bachelor's degree in Business
Administration with honors from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
and a Bachelor’s degree in Laws from the Beijing University. He is
currently a practicing solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong and is
the principal partner of Henry Fok & Company, Solicitors. Mr. Fok has
over 12 years of extensive experience as a solicitor of general practice
and is very familiar with commercial law. Mr. Fok was an independent
non-executive director of Neptune Group Limited (formerly known as
Massive Resources International Corporation Limited, stock code: 70),
a company listed on the main board or the Stock Exchange, for the
period from January to September 2004, an executive director of Xian
Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 353), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and the
chairman and an executive director of Yueshou Environmental Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1191), a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

Mr. Cheung Ming Leung Denver, aged 47, joined the Group in
September 2004 and responsible for the internal performance audit
for the Group. He has worked in the finance field for over 16 years.
He left the Company on 27 June 2007.

Mr. Ng Man Kin Kenneth, aged 33, jointed the Group as a Group
Finance and Accounting Manager since August 2004. He obtained a
Bachelor of Commerce from the University of New South Wales,
Australia. He is a qualified as a CPA Australia and an associate member
of HKICPA in 2003 and 2004 respectively. Prior to joining the Group,
he has over 4 years of experience in CPA firm in Hong Kong.

Mr. Hung Shean-l, aged 69, graduated from the Faculty of Chemical
Engineering at Taiwan National Cheng Kung University and is presently
the General Manager of Grand Team International Company, Limited
in Taiwan. He was previously the General Manager of Huls Company
Limited in Taiwan. He is now the Chairman of Rotary Club at Chaoyang,
Taipei and a committee member of the International Rotary Club Fund
Organization District 3480.

Mr. Wong Nai Ping, aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 2 March 2004. Mr. Wong is currently the
Chairman of David and Winson Enterprises Pty. Ltd. He had previously
held senior management positions and directorships in Hong Kong
and multi-national companies. He is a trustee of the Hong Kong Liver
Patients Assistance Fund. Mr. Wong is a Justice of Peace and the
founding chairman of the Lions Club of 201N5 in Australia. In 2002,
he was awarded the Medal of Centenary of Federation of Australia.

Mr. Au Kwok Yee Benjamin, aged 41, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 30 September 2004. He
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in laws in 1991 and obtained a postgraduate certificate in laws in
1992. He is currently the Principal solicitor of Messrs. Benjamin Au &
Co Solicitors. He has over 13 years of experience in commercial and
corporate matters, civil and criminal litigations, intellectual property,
commercial documents drafting and advice and employment matters
and appeals.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

SENIOR MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVES

The senior management executives of the Company for the financial
year and up to the date of this Annual Report are as follows:

Mr. Chu Fungshih
Mr. Mo Chi Wai
Mr. Leung Chi Wing Billy

Assistant Vice President
Group Purchasing Manager
Group Chief Accountant

Details of the senior management executives are as follows:

Mr. Chu Fungshih, aged 66, rejoined the Group on 4 December
2003 as Assistant Vice President and has the overall responsibility
over the Group’s production management and product development.
Mr. Chu has over 42 years of plastic industry experience in Taiwan,
the PRC and other Southeast Asian countries. He was the project
manager in setting up the Dongguan Bestway facility in 1991.

Mr. Mo Chi Wai, aged 42, is Group Purchasing Manager and
Administration Manager of the Dongguan plants. Mr. Mo is a graduate
of the National Taiwan University in 1991 with a Bachelor of Science
Degree in Engineering. He joined the Group on 16 September 1991
and has since been working in managerial positions in different
departments.

Mr. Leung Chi Wing Billy, FCCA, HKICPA, aged 41, is the Group
Chief Accountant of the Group and is responsible for the overall
supervision of the financial reporting and accounting functions of the
Group. He joined the Group in 19 March 2001. Mr. Leung has over
19 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. He is the
Company Secretary of the Group.
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries consisted of the
manufacturing and trading of plastic products, mainly PVC films. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2008 and the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 40 to 116.
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Report of the Directors

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets,
liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate. This summary does not form a part of the

audited financial statements.

MBENBE

NTREEDEAVRFEAREDAMEERE

ERERIBERESIHE

HE AR

REZUBHRK WEEEWEYEFHE U
BEYTEBREERTBRRZ — Mo

Results 7
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+-HLEE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—EENF BT L BT —ETAHE —TEmE
FHET FHET FHET FHT FHT
TURNOVER EERE 245,099 300,334 282,886 292,020 240,754
Loss before taxation bR B AT 1B (24,135) (18,732) (1,603) (15,518) (7,969)
Taxation i 720 34 2,264 (105) 2,440
Profit/(loss) for the year from FEIFEK L EH 2
continuing operations wmA (R (23,415) (18,698) 661 (15,623) (5,529)
Loss for the year from FE-IHKIE
a discontinued operation & EEKE 2 EHE - - - (12,620) (3,782)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEHEFM(EE) (23,415) (18,698) 661 (28,243) (9,311)
Attributable to: FE{h:
Equity holders of RABIERFEA
the Company (21,001) (18,398) 599 (28,133) (9,354)
Minority interests A BURR R (2,414) (300) 62 (110) 43
(23,415) (18,698) 661 (28,243) (9,311)
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Report of the Directors

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION BRERNEE @)
(Continued)
Assets, Liabilities and Minority Interests EE-BERDVERRESR
31 March
=A=+-—A8
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—EBENE -ETLF  -BEAE  -EEHRF —EENG
FER FiET FiET FET FET
Property, plant and equipment #)% B 5= & & 59,159 59,933 63,350 75,342 119,434
Prepaid land lease payments  FEff L i & k1B 3,681 3,942 4,082 4,236 9,000
Interests in jointly-controlled {5 fL A2 # (> 242
entities - - 4,002 8,491 15,272
Long term receivables/ EHEWER
long term investments EHEE 2,660 2,643 2,698 2,866 3,150
Prepaid rentals FER S - - 2,098 4,254 6,410
Current assets MEBEE 121,953 127,586 89,971 88,926 91,687
Total assets HWEE 187,453 194,104 166,201 184,115 244,953
Current liabilities mEBAE (87,745) (106,446) (87,387) (96,231) (118,316)
Long term portion of interest- T B8R 77 &%
bearing bank and other HEiEEZ
borrowings REIHS (11,389) (10,571) (12,754) (31,084) (70,934)
Long term portion of loan R—ZBRRERZ
from a shareholder REED - - - (22,500) -
Long term portion of finance EfREML 2
lease payables REFFE - - - - (1,345)
Convertible bonds AR RS 5 - - - (40,692) (72,865)
Total liabilities BEERE (99,134) (117,017) (100,141) (190,507) (263,460)
Minority interests DHREER (2,021) (4,259) (4,562) (4,431) (11,984)
86,298 72,828 61,498 (10,823) (30,491)
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Report of the Directors

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the movements in the share capital and share option schemes
of the Company during the year, together with the reasons therefor,
are set out in notes 28 and 30 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in note 31(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2008, the Company had no retained profits available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, the Company’s contributed surplus of
HK$159,393,000 is currently not available for distribution. The
Company’s share premium account in the amount of HK$30,420,000
may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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fReport of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 50% (2007: 49%) of the total sales for the year and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 21% (2007:
24%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
67% (2007: 64%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 23% (2007:
21%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers
during the year.

The Group's concentration of credit risk on trade receivables as at 31
March 2008 is mainly from five major customers which accounted for
33% (2007: 29%) of trade receivables mainly from Hong Kong. The
Group has closely monitored the recoverability of trade receivables
and taken effective measures to ensure timely collection of outstanding
balances.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Tang Kuan Chien

Mr. Tang Wei Lun

Mr. Lam Chi Yin Henry

Mr. Chim Kim Lun Ricky (appointed on 17 September 2007)
Mr. Fok Po Tin (appointed on 17 September 2007)
Mr. Ng Man Kin Kenneth (

Mr. Cheung Ming Leung Denver (

appointed on 1 June 2007)
resigned on 27 June 2007)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Hung, Shean-l

Mr. Wong Nai Ping

Mr. Au Kwok Yee Benjamin
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with clauses 86(2) and 87 of the Company’s bye-laws,
Mr. Tang Kuan Chien, Mr. Wong Nai Ping, Mr Hung Shean-I, Mr.
Chim Kim Lun Ricky and Mr. Fok Po Tin will retire and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Mr. Hung Shean-I, Mr. Wong Nai Ping and Mr. Au Kwok Yee Benjamin,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 16 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings with reference to the recommendation of the Group’s
remuneration committee. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’'s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008
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fReport of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2008, the interests of the directors in the share capital
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

ESRRO -MHBARORESZ

BakER

RZBENF=ZA=1+—RB HOEARFREZE
HFRBEEN ([FEHF RG] ) F35216FE
ZERMEE HRIBE LT AR EFTETESFR
HZIFESTR ([REFR]) ANMEARRRE
BHMARZAARAR (B2
AISEMABEE (EXLEHFLBEHRIFEXV
) BRAZEEIAT

Frl) EFERARQ

Long positions in the Shares: REROZRAE:
Number of shares held, capacity in which Shares are held and KERGEE -BHRERME
nature of interest:
Percentage
of the
Directly Through Company'’s
beneficially controlled issued
Name of director owned corporation Total share capital
L N
BRTR
BESHA EERBEERESR BEBESAR #at TEAH
Tang Kuan Chien Executive Director 7,001,050 59,315,132 66,316,182 15.18
EE & WITES
Tang Wei Lun Executive Director 2,250,000 - 2,250,000 0.51
EE R WITES
Wong Nai Ping Independent non-executive 388,650 - 388,650 0.09
Director
=0T BIIEHITES
Hung Shean-I Independent non-executive 450,000 - 450,000 0.10
Director
B — BUIFHITES
Notes: Bt 5
1. The corporate interest Shares are held as to 20,152,375 Shares by 1. ‘A Al #E = 1D Ty A Bestway Development

Bestway Development Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Mr. Tang Kuan Chien, and as to
39,162,757 Shares by Best Online Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Ms. Wang Ya Chin, the
spouse of Mr. Tang Kuan Chien.

Limited (R EBRLZBESHMA L2 A7 HE
BlEEE2E%WA) 620,152,375 A
39,162,757 % % {5 F1 Best Online Limited (52 %
BREZBESEMA I AR HEEREEY
REBTHELLt2EHBE)FE-
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Tang Kuan Chien has non-beneficial
personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries held in trust for the
benefit of the Company solely for the purpose of complying with the
minimum company membership requirements.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company and their associates had any interests or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the
register maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any directors or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

24  Bestway International Holdings Limited » Annual Report 2008
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Report of the Directors

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2008, the following interests of 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section

FERR

RZZEENF=ZA=+—H EAQRAIRESE
NEAEKRAIEIIERTF 2 B ELMATHE %S
NAEEBITRAS% A FiEas 2 RES

7

336 of the SFO: I
Long positions: RE:
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
ordinary issued share
Name Notes shares held capital
Lo N
FEREE BRTRA
®A B = K& B ERal
Ms. Wang Ya Chin FHEZ LT (a) 66,316,182 15.18
Best Online Limited Best Online Limited (b) 39,162,757 8.96
Wealthy Pod Limited Wealthy Pod Limited (c) 51,000,000 11.67
Mr. Ng Kin Wah RfEELEE (0 51,000,000 11.67
Notes: B ek

(a) The interests of Ms. Wang Ya Chin include the 39,162,757 shares held
by Best Online Limited, being the personal and corporate interests of
Mr. Tang Kuan Chien, as disclosed under the heading “Directors’
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures” above.

(b) These interests are also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tang
Kuan Chien as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures” above.

(c) Wealthy Pod Limited is a company incorporated in the BVI and is
wholly-owned by Mr. Ng Kin Wah (“Mr. Ng”). Wealthy Pod Limited
and Mr. Ng are Independent Third Parties.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, no person other than
the directors of the Company whose interests are set out under the
heading “Directors’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, had registered an interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

(a) T %5 & £ 2 #E 25 B FEBest Online LimitedFfT
FH 239,162,757 REER &2 A A
B BN EXTEFRRO HERO RES
ZHERREE] PR

(b) HEEFETER EXTESRBRG HERHO R
EHEZEZREE] ST HE AEERALE
pA/NCIE 30

(c) Wealthy Pod Limited & — RN KER LB ST
MRz AR WHERELE (REE) 2E
% » Wealthy Pod Limited & (i 5 £ 19 & 38 2
FE=Te
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Report of the Directors

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the
date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the directors of the Company or their respective associates
was interested in, apart from the Group’s businesses, any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has compiled with the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the accounting period
covered by the annual report, except for certain deviations, please
refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 36 of the
annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by the directors.
Based on specific enquiry of the Company’s directors, the directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code, throughout the accounting period covered by the
annual report.
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Report of the Directors

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
compliance with the Code for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group's financial reporting process and internal
controls. The Group's audited financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2008 has been reviewed by the Committee. The Audit
Committee comprises the three independent non-executive directors
of the Company, and meets at least twice annually to perform their
duties.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of the significant post balance sheet events of the Group are
set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

Morison Heng retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Tang Kuan Chien
Chairman

Hong Kong
18 July 2008
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of directors (“Board”) is committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adherence to the principle of corporate
governance with emphasis on transparency, independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent
regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) has
issued Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the listing of securities
(the “Listing Rules”) relating to “The Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Codes”)" for the listed company to comply with.
In the opinion of the directors, the Company has complied with CG
Codes throughout the year, except for the deviations from the CG
Codes provision A.2.1 relating to the separation roles of chairman
and chief executive office and the roles should not be performed by
the same individual, which are explained in the following paragraphs:

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors
should take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Company,
including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions, financial information, appointment of directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.
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Corporate Governance Report

THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition
The Board currently comprises the following directors

Executive directors:

Mr. Tang Kuan Chien (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Wei Lun

Mr. Lam Chi Yin Henry

Mr. Chim Kim Lun Ricky

Mr. Fok Po Tin

Mr. Ng Man Kin Kenneth

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Hung Shean-|

Mr. Wong Nai Ping

Mr. Au Kwok Yee Benjamin

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time.

There is no relationship among the current members of the Board
except for the family relationship between Mr. Tang Kuan Chien and
Mr. Tang Wei Lun. Mr. Tang Wei Lun is the son of Mr. Tang Kuan
Chien. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Director and Senior Management Profile” on page 13 to 16
of the annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report

THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory
matters. There is a procedure to enable directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the expense of the Company in order to discharge
of their duties.

During the year, two regular and five irregular board meetings were
held. Notice of at least 14 days has been given to all Directors for all
regular board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying Board
papers in respect of regular and irregular board meetings are sent out
in full to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Minutes of board meetings are kept by duly appointed secretaries of
the respective meetings and record in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the board and decision reached and sent to all directors
for their comment and records respectively within a reasonable time
after the board meeting was held.

All directors have access to board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.
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Corporate Governance Report

THE BOARD (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company have
been appointed for a specific terms and are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company Articles of
Association.

The Company has a formal, considered and transparent procedure for
the appointment of new directors to the board and all directors should
be subject to re-election at regular intervals. Upon the resignation of
a director, we made an announcement publicly and explain the reasons
for the resignation.

The number of full Board Meetings and Committee Meetings attended
by each Director during the year under review is set out in the following
table. Figure in brackets indicates maximum number of meetings in
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the period in which the individual was a Board member or Committee H-
member.
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Full Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director Note Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
28 EH M RE
ESpg ot 3t Bz ZEBEE ZESEE ZEEEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tang Kuan Chien EEREAE 717) N/AZR i A N/AZ i F N/AZR i
Mr. Tang Wei Lun ERmEE 717) N/ATiE B N/ATiE FB 2/(2)
Mr. Lam Chi Yin Henry MEREE 6/(7) N/AT i@ A N/AT i@ A N/AT i A
Mr. Chim Kim Lun Ricky EflmtE 1 2/(3) N/AT i R N/AT i A N/AT 8 A
Mr. Fok Po Tin EEHLE 1 3/(3) N/AZ 7 A N/A7 i B N/A i F
Mr. Ng Man Kin Kenneth RXEE 2 71(7) N/A i A N/ATR i FB N/AZR i F
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFNTEE
Mr. Hung Shean-| HE—-FE 4/(7) 2/(2) N/AT 3 12)
Mr. Wong Nai Ping BNV EE 6/(7) 2/2) N/AT 38 2/(2)
Mr. Au Kwok Yee Benjamin BB T 5/(7) 2/2) N/AT 38 N/AT 38 A
Note: Bt 5
1 Mr. Chim Kim Lun Ricky and Mr. Fok Po Tin were appointed on 17 1 ERlatEREERAEER_STLFAAT
September 2007 tREZE-
2 Mr. Ng Man Kin Kenneth was appointed on 1 June 2007 2 RNEEERZEZTLF A —HBEZE-
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Corporate Governance Report

THE BOARD (Continued)
Chairman and Chief Executive

CG Codes provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same person. Mr. Tang Kuan Chien is the Chairman of the Board
and also serves the function of a Chief Executive. The Board believes
that the present arrangement enables the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve the Company’s
objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing
environment. The Board also believes that the Company already has a
strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure effective
oversight of management. The Board will be looking for a suitable
Chief Executive Officer to fulfill the CG Codes.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee to ensure that
there are formal and transparent procedures for setting policies on
the remuneration of Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee comprises the Mr. Wong Nai Ping, Mr. Hung
Shean-l and Mr. Tang Wei Lun. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Mr. Wong Nai Ping.

During the year, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Nomination Committee

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee to ensure fair and
transparent procedures for appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors to the Board. The Nomination Committee comprises Mr.
Wong Nai Ping, Mr. Hung Shean-I and Mr. Tang Wei Lun. The
Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Wong Nai Ping .

During the year, two Nomination Committee meeting was held to
nominate Mr. Ng Man Kin Kenneth, Mr. Chim Kim Lun Ricky and Mr.
Fok Po Tin be executive directors of the Company. At present, the
Committee is looking for a suitable Chief Executive Officer to fulfill
the CG Codes A.2.1 Provision requirement.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Wong Nai Ping , Mr. Hung Shean-
I and Mr. Au Kwok Yee Benjamin. The Audit Committee is chaired by
Mr. Hung Shean-| .

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are considered significant
accounting policies used to prepare the statements, and any changes
to them, and significant estimates or judgements on which the
statements have been based, taking the external auditors’ views into
consideration, consider the clarity and completeness of the disclosures
in the financial statements. During the year, two Audit Committee
meetings were held, reviewing the financial reporting matters of the
Group. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are consistent
with the terms set out in relevant section of the Corporate Governance
Code.

All the members of the Audit Committee are confirmed to be
independence with reference to Rule 3.13 of Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Model Code For Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

To comply with the code provisions A.5.4 of the CG codes, the
Company has also established and adopted the Model Code as the
code of conduct for securities transactions by Relevant Employees to
regulate the dealings in the securities of the Company by certain
employees of the Group who are considered to be likely in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2008. In preparing the financial statement, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have
prepared the accounts on the going concern basis. Respective
responsibilities of the Directors and the external auditors to the
shareholders are set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on
page 38 of this report .
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Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS (continued)

Auditor’s remuneration

During the year, Morison Heng CPA was appointed as the external
auditors of the Company. Morison Heng CPA has provided audit
services to the Group in respect of 2008 financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries at the fee of HK$600,000.

Internal Control

The Board of Directors is responsible for the establishing and
maintaining a sound system of internal control within the Group.
However, such as system was designed to manage various risks of the
Group within certain acceptable risk level, rather than the complete
elimination of the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives of
the Group.

The current Board has already commenced as assessment and review
of the internal control system of the Company and will take appropriate
action to maintain an adequate internal control system to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets, and review the
effectiveness of such on an annual basis through the Audit Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS (continued)

Communication with shareholders

The Group strives to disclose relevant information on its activities to
shareholders in an open and timely manner. Communication is achieved
through:

(1) The Company’s annual and interim reports which have been
enhanced to present a balance, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group position and prospects.

(2) Notices of annual and other general meetings and
accompanying explanatory materials.

(3) Press releases on major acquisition.
(4) Disclosures to Stock Exchange and relevant regulatory bodies.

(5) Response to inquiries from shareholders by Directors during
the Annual General meeting.

Constructive use of Annual General Meetings

The relations with shareholders should be maintained through
constructive use of annual general meeting. We are encouraging
shareholders to attend at the annual general meeting, giving
shareholders an opportunity to ask questions and to hear about the
company during the meeting and an opportunity to use their vote
and greater openness in voting procedures at the annual general
meeting. Our executive directors and responsible person of Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee will
answer the questions raised by the shareholders. Annual report and
related papers are post to shareholders for their consideration at least
21 days prior to the Annual General Meeting. Annual General Meeting
proceedings are continually reviewed in the light of corporate
governance best practices.

36 Bestway International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2008

EERGHMEKRE 2ERE @#)

ERREE

ARBBABEEBZEBEM AR AR
ZIEMBR R T BB AT R ER:

(1) ARTEHEREBRREFHEE HAK
BORR R RS — AT HHRE
w2 i

2 REEREGRESRBONK LREBYE
B

B) REAKENIBWRBERFLIELM-
4 RBEIARABEERERE-

(5) REFBFAR L HEFOERIZE
e

REBERARRBFEARE

AEBZERRBFASEGHBRARER ZH
F-AEBETZBERHERRBFRAS BRRIR
HERARKRREHEARRFRZIES URER
BFERETREALRER BRERFAER/BER-K
SEZHTEERERZB S REZEELF
MEEEZABEATREERRZER - FRE
BEXHERBRRBFASETARI2IRAF
BETRR2E-RRBEFAGZREFBEERE

EEEAREE R -



"
A
4

B EE
Independent Auditors’ Report

%ﬁ, MORISON HENG
Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BESTWAY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bestway
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 40 to 116,
which comprise the consolidated and the company balance sheets as
at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008
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OPINION ER

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as

# ERANBRREBBEETEVBHR
%: /N
at 31 March 2008 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for the —ZFZ
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b
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year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Morison Heng EFEETMELT

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 July 2008 BEH _ZTZENELATNR
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Consolidated Income Statement

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
—®ENE Bt
B 5 TERT FAET
Turnover = 6 245,099 300,334
Cost of sales SHE B A (232,238) (284,494)
Gross profit ER 12,861 15,840
Other revenue H ol 2 6 3,437 1,490
Selling and distribution costs HE R DHKR (2,138) (4,404)
Administrative expenses THHAX (27,273) (23,145)
Other operating expenses, net H SRR (7,137) (4,643)
Finance costs B 75k A 8 (3,885) (3,870)
Loss before taxation BRBE AT 18 7 (24,135) (18,732)
Taxation IR 11 720 34
Loss for the year REEIE (23,415) (18,698)
Attributable to: FER:
Equity holders of the Company RAGIREREA 12 (21,001) (18,398)
Minority interest DEREE R (2,414) (300)
(23,415) (18,698)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AP EBEREFEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EBiEEREE
THE COMPANY 13
Basic (HK cents per share) B (FRABM) (5.14) (6.19)
Diluted e N/A RiE A N/A 7T & A
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

R=—ZZFN\F=H=+—H At 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
LY B
B & FET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BEREE 14 59,159 59,933
Prepaid lease payments AN HEERE 15 3,681 3,942
Long term receivables & B JE U BR 3k 18 2,660 2,643
65,500 66,518
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 19 19,077 24,368
Trade receivables & 5 W IR 20 49,068 48,723
Prepayments, deposits and FERFIE e Rk
other receivables H ftb JE W SRR 7,016 8,019
Tax recoverable BIEqER I - 53
Pledged deposits BEMRFR 21 11,541 8,370
Bank balances and cash WITHETFRIRE 22 35,251 35,233
121,953 124,766
Asses classified as held for sale A HEEE 23 = 2,820
121,953 127,586
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables 2 ZERR 24 14,858 33,582
Other payables and accruals H b < BR 3k K FERT 5K IA 19,758 22,990
Tax payable JE A 7518 5,779 6,000
Interest-bearing bank and AERITREMEER
other borrowings 25 46,775 43,299
Provision B 27 575 575
87,745 106,446
Net current assets RBEEFE 34,208 21,140
Total assets less current MEERTBEE
liabilities 99,708 87,658
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

R=ZZZTNF=H=+—H8 At 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E2ENF ZETLF
B & FET FH&ET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and HERITREMEE
other borrowings 25 (11,389) (10,571)
NET ASSETS EERE 88,319 77,087
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARREE
Share capital fi& 7 28 43,690 38,590
Reserves ffE# 31(a) 42,608 34,238
86,298 72,828
Minority interests LPHRREER 2,021 4,259
88,319 77,087
The consolidated financial statements on pages 40 to 116 were FAZNNCEZREMBREER _TZENF L

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18
July 2008 and are signed on its behalf by:

TANG Kuan

Chien

DIRECTOR

EF
EE#
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ERGEHR
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-_ZTT/\F=A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARARBREARSE
Share-
based Asset Exchange
Share Share payment  Contributed revaluation fluctuation  Accumulated Minority Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
BRR S BEEf Ex 2% HSBRR [ $:1
B RAEE #E REBH " BBHE ] aE [ £ BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT FiET FhT FiET FhT ThL FiET ThL T Ti#n
At 1 April 2006 RZZEXFNA-A 51,453 6,892 - 52,743 462 (14,132) (35,920) 61,498 4,562 66,060
Surplus on revaluation B RS - - - - 1,000 - - 1,000 - 1,000
Exchange realignment HNERE - - - - - 6,362 - 6,362 3) 6,359
Total income and expenses RREFEERTL
recognised directly in equity BARFX 28 - - - - 1,000 6,362 - 7,362 3) 7,359
Loss for the year 3415 - - - - - - (18,398) (18,398) (300) (18,698)
Total income and FEMARFZ#E
expenses for the year - - - - 1,000 6,362 (18,398) (11,036) (303) (11,339)
Capital reduction BRAAHLA (25,726) - - - - - 25,726 - - -
Rights issue Ak 12,863 7,118 - - - - - 20,581 - 20,581
Share-based payment expenses LA 52 B - - 1,785 - - - - 1,785 - 1,785
At 31 March 2007 RZTELE=A=+-H 38,590 14,610 1,785 52,743 1,462 (7,770) (28,592) 72,828 4,259 77,087
Surplus on revaluation B RS - - - - 1,935 - - 1,935 - 1,935
Exchange realignment SHEHR - - - - - 9,814 - 9,814 176 9,990
Total income and expenses RRETERRERL
recognised directly in equity WARB 28 - - - - 1,935 9,814 - 11,749 176 11,925
Loss for the year 3410 - - - - - - (21,001) (21,001) (2,414) (23,415)
Total income and expenses FEMARFX S
for the year - - - - 1,935 9,814 (21,001) (9,252) (2,238) (11,490)
Disposal of building HERTF - - - - (328) - 328 - - -
New share issued BEAHK 5,100 15,810 - - - - - 20,910 - 20,910
Share-based payment expenses LR 52 B - - 1,812 - - - - 1,812 - 1,812
Expiry of share options BRERR - - (3,597) - - - 3,597 - - -
At 31 March 2008 RZZE\E=A=1-H 43,690 30,420% Ed 52,743* 3,069* 2,044% (45,668)* 86,298 2,021 88,319
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBROEASBERGEEEARRIIE
HK$42,608,000 (2007: HK$34,238,000) in the consolidated balance Z kR B [ 1%42,608,0008 7 (Z T T £ F ¢
sheet of the Group. 34,238,000/& L) °
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f Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
HK$000 HK$'000
—2ENE e
FET FH&T
Cash flows from operating activities RKEXKsBREFKE
Loss before taxation B %1 A &5 18 (24,135) (18,732)
Adjustments for: KRHETYRIE:
Interest expenses FEMX 3,885 3,870
Interest income T B U A (771) (156)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BELEEEZ
plant and equipment (M=) B8 (1,455) 52
Gain on disposal of HEEMHEEREZ WA
prepaid lease payments (254) -
Loss on disposal of HERRESCEZEE
a jointly-controlled entity - 113
Waive of other payables e H A AT BR K (1,933) -
Depreciation e 9,583 10,355
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments #3578 {7 1 & 718 121 122
Amortisation of long term receivable B 8H = HA R WRBR 5K - 198
Investment income from REEWERR 2B WA
long term receivable (296) -
Exchange gain on long term receivable & 53 & Ut BR 7k 2 [& 3 Uy 25 (251) -
Surplus on revaluation of property, ME-BELRZEZ
plant and equipment EHAHK (135) -
Bad debts R 74 243
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARz WS - (1,006)
Provision for other asset EmEERE 204 420
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts 3% Bk 3% H! [5] - (133)
Share-based payment expenses AR &R 1,812 1,785
Operating loss before EEESEBACKERSE
working capital changes (13,551) (2,869)
Decrease in prepaid rentals EEE R - 2,098
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERL, (M) 5,291 (2,694)
Increase in trade receivables Z 5 FE W BR SR8 0 (419) (10,232)
Decrease in prepayments, BRRIE TR
deposits and other receivables H b fE W IE R 795 950
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables B 5 EMER CRD) /18 m (18,724) 16,352
Increase)/(Decrease) in Efh BRI R BRI 2
other payables and accruals g, Chd) 942 (3,928)
Decrease in deposit received SR E D (2,241) -
Cash used in operations KEFRAZES (27,907) (323)
Interest received RSP 771 156
Interest paid A B (3,885) (3,870)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENEBMNER — (132)
Hong Kong profits tax refund BANIGH R 53 -
Net cash used in operating activities REEKFTAZRLFEHE (30,968) (4,169)
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fConsoIidated Cash Flow Statement

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
S Lt —ETLF
FET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities ®REZEHERE
Purchases of property, BEME WE L&
plant and equipment (7,648) (5,437)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME -WMEREE
plant and equipment Fr{§ 318 9,069 81
Proceeds from disposal of & B E RIEFT S A
prepaid lease payments 398 -
Proceeds from long term receivables RHEWIRR Z B HRIE 530 -
Disposal of a subsidiary & B8 A - 4,036
Increase in pledged deposits EHEAFFEM (3.171) (2,682)
Net cash used in investing activities REZFBHFAZESTFE (822) (4,002)
Cash flows from financing activities BEZBHZ2HEHRE
Proceeds from issue of shares BATIR D P15 B 20,910 20,581
Drawdown of bank loans FARITER 45,731 7,235
Repayment of bank loans BEIFETEX (40,176) (2,803)
Other loan raised Hib 3 E R 3,000 -
Repayment of other loans BEEEMER (5,261) (1,000)
Repayment of obligation EEBREREMEZEME
under finance lease (122) (176)
Net cash from financing activities METBREZ2EHESFER 24,082 23,837
Net (decrease)/increase in cash (RB2) EmReR
and cash equivalents SRREEHFHE (7,708) 15,666
Cash and cash equivalents FNzHReRERREER
at beginning of year 35,233 14,200
Effect of foreign exchange EXSBH X ETHE
rate changes, net 7,726 5,367
Cash and cash equivalents FRZEEREFHHEER
at end of year 35,251 35,233
Analysis of balances of cash ReREARLEBERIN
and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRES 35,251 35,233
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RERAEBE
Balance Sheet

R=ZZZTNF=H=+—H8 At 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
—zE0E Bt
B 5 TERT FAET
Non-currents assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIE AR & E 16 11,637 11,637
Current assets RBEE
Prepayment T8 5 3K 159 159
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL BT B N R 2 5RI8 16 83,792 72,543
Bank balances and cash RITEFREER S 22 99 20,702
84,050 93,404
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASTBY BB A B) 2 FIE 16 11,459 20,634
Other payables and accruals H fth FE A BR X & B AT RE 308 2,665
11,767 23,299
Net current assets RBEERE 72,283 70,105
NET ASSETS EEFE 83,920 81,742
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFHE
Share capital % < 28 43,690 38,590
Reserves 1 31(b) 40,230 43,152
83,920 81,742
The consolidated financial statements on pages 40 to 116 were FAENCEZGEUBREER ZZETNEFL
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 At \BEESSHERKENE WHTHE
July 2008 and are signed on its behalf by: ERREFEE:
TANG Kuan Chien TANG Wei Lun
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF o
EER® EEfR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Bestway International Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at Room 1304 to 1305,
13/F., Shun Fat Industrial Building, 17 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the Group during the year were the
manufacturing and trading of plastic products, mainly PVC films.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's
principal activities during the year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, a
number of new standards, amendments and interpretations
(“new HKFRSs"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") that are effective for the
Group's financial year beginning 1 April 2007. The adoption of
these new HKFRSs do not result in substantial changes to the
Group's accounting policies or financial results except that new
and revised disclosures, in particular those in connection with
HKFRS 7, “Financial instruments: Disclosures” and amendment
to HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements — Capital
disclosures”, have been made in the financial statements.
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
to the current year's presentation.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been issued
but are not yet effective.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\FE=A=1+—HIEE For the year ended 31 March 2008

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements’
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs'
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements?
HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable financial instruments and
(Amendments) obligations arising on obligation’

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting conditions and cancellation’

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations?

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments’

HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements?
HK(IFRIC) = Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes*
HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined

Benefit Assets, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their
Interaction?®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2009
’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2008
N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of these standards, amendments or interpretations will have
no impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group except for the adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business
combinations” and HKAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidation and
separate financial statements”. HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect
the accounting for business combination for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27
(Revised) will affect the accounting treatment on changes in a
parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control, which will be accounted for as equity
transactions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for building, which is measured
at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

EXEFEE

KB W BERIVRE L KAOXE G R
SLHERTFRARAFENE UFAR T X
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B
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RAEVBHRREEARRRHAR R ZE
MER (KRB AR) MBBHRR-MEA
ARIBEAEERNM B REERER U
e HIR B P B M e BESIFEH -

HRAFERABAIHEZHMBRR K
E2EERBEAABAZERARLERE
EHEZERABUEAGAKRERA-

MEFE BHMBRAZEEMBERR
FHREE SHEFRREAEBHEMK
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.

50 Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008

BEXEBE @

LERBEE @)

ARERZR 5 i WA KRR HR
REMRE R EHE-

RAWBAREEFEZ LB R g E
AEBRET Z2HEHIREY -BEFE
ZOBEREZERIBBRRREEED
BHRHMEZRAEERIBRRE S
PFREIREATIE 2 R BB - D BURR B
BEBEMEMEAR R ZEAAE
EAE ELBRREGANORNEERA
TERRIMEE AR BB E RN

EBas

DEBERNEUE T SN RIE D BK
RRFIERNEE BERIRAERNF
RNFERLEPIETE-

B 4 F

MEBAR T —MARR EEHEEESHE
BN EEBR AR GEEBDEN 2

A

B~ w2 A A W R B B R IR AT
AR RBZWERA AR B HE R A
ZRE TR A BT R BB R



-~

B EME

Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwiill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, however not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation), had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged
in providing products or services that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing
products or services within a particular economic environment
that are subject to risks and return that are different from
those of segments operation in other economic environments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

(b)

(d)

(f)

the party, directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in
the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group;

the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (c);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-controlled
or significantly influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or
indirectly, any individual referred to in (c) or (d); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation
less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses.

Buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated balance sheet at their revalued amounts, being
the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient
regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair
values at the balance sheet date.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of buildings is
credited to the properties revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised as an expense, in which case the increase
is credited to the consolidated income statement to the extent
of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in net carrying
amount arising on revaluation of an asset is dealt with as an
expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on
the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is
transferred to retained profits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life.
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements 5 to 10 years or over the lease
terms, whichever is shorter
2 to 15 years
3 to 5 years

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures,
equipment and
motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
the operating leases are charged to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements,
the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land
and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment.
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables and the accounting policy adopted is set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from subsidiaries, pledged deposits
and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in
organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance
sheet date. For investments where there is no active market,
fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of another
instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted cash
flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there

is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired.
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans
and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance
account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in
the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for
impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as
the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties
of the debtor and significant changes in the technological,
market economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect
all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice.
The carrying amount of the receivables is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised
when they are assessed as uncollectible.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

e

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEXRESTEBEX @
(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) MEEERE ®)
Assets carried at cost BHEFIARZEE
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an WAERHERZRELLTRATAZRE
unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value EEERGEA S E2E AT ERMRA
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured has been FEVEK BECEERZBEECREE
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference BEFRRREREZHE (RBEUMK
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of BEBAIMSEMENIR) 2 @A H-
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market ZEEEZRBEBETGEE-.

rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses
on these assets are not reversed.

Derecognition of financial assets BEERMBEEE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial MGEE (I—EBUBEEZ —#Dx—

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is HEEMBEE 2 —22) RTIERT

derecognised where: % EXH FE R -

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have . WHRZEEEMGReEREZE
expired; FEE Ewm

. the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from . AEBRBWNRZBAEMSR
the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay in full EMEERN WARE B[R
without material delay to a third party under a “pass- Bl ERERELEE=F
through” arrangement; or ZIEBRAT B EEERNEERE

NRZEE K

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows J AEBEEEREKBMZBEEEMN
from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially FRENEBZEN W(a)BEEZ
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither BEEZBRL B R E®R: %
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and (DI MEERREZIEEERKA
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the HoRkE®HR EEEEZIEER
asset. EEZ YRS
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written
and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or
similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred
asset that the Group may repurchase, except in the case of a
written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar
provision) on an asset measured at fair value, where the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower
of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise
price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including creditors, deposits, other payables
and interest-bearing borrowings are initially stated at fair value
less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. The related interest expense is
recognised within “finance costs” in the income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39 are
accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
the financial guarantee contract, except when such contract is
recognised at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in
which they are incurred.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheet, bank balances and cash
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the balance
sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is included in
finance costs in the income statement.
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it relates to
items that are recognised in the same or a different period
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from negative goodwill or
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised.
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a
legally right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;
and

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial assets;
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using the Black-Scholes OPM model, further details of
which are given in note 30 to the financial statements. In
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the relevant employees become
fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
balance sheet date until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised
as at the beginning and end of that period. The equity amount
is recognised in the share option reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium) or
the option expires/lapses (when it is released directly to retained
profits).
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that
all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification, which increases the total fair value of the share-
based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible
for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance in the event of the termination of their employment.
The Group is liable to make such payments in the event that
such a termination of employment meets the circumstances
specified in the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

68 Bestway International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2008

BEXEBE @

BERR (@)
UBRBENERS (H)

HRNEEHENRSENBRE Te’
RAMME BRTHBEETATRES
B 10 L 4 AR B b o R SO
BB & - R BATA E MR DS
R TR ETER HERRAD
-

11 3 DA BB 21 ) P BCAE B 1R SR B P
B PR MR X R D AE B BN
B EE KT Lo HEREE RS
Mt E(EMEEBBUARND I E R B
WAENFEEAGMEMN XHEEFIHKAE
fMes BIEBL x5 & B RER R X o

1 35 A BB S A ) R R A AR R 8 - IR AR

REREHEAREE A HRERER

TR R 2 RER - AT &

BETHBREREEEHNBERE TN

ROBRHEESERBRE AEEHEN

BB R B R AR B R AR
N E - —IORTER AT

FHE SRR R RTT 6 R AR e BE
& RER A ER N A # 0 o

18 1% 1% 61l )R B AR % &

AEBETREENKLEBEANBENA
SERBHREFH AERENETER
BIEPIRE 2 REIRB 2 -HRLEES
MEaERERBEIIREZER AEH
QAN B RFIR



ry
5 i =M

fNotes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Employment Ordinance long service payments
(Continued)

A provision is recognised in respect of the probable future
long service payments expected to be made. The provision is
based on the best estimate of the probable future payments
which have been earned by the employees from their service
to the Group to the balance sheet date.

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
participating employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency
rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than Hong Kong dollar. As at the balance
sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Company at
the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and, their
income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are included in a separate component of
equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative
amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, which have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or whether the
event previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Company has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred that may affect the asset value, or such an event
affecting the asset value has not been in existence; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net
present value of future cash flows, which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management to determine the level of impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could have a material effect on the net present
value used in the impairment test.

Share-based payments

The fair value of the options granted is estimated by
independent professional valuers based on the various
assumptions on volatility, life of options, dividend paid out
rate and annual risk-free interest rate, excluding the impact of
any non-market vesting conditions, which generally represent
the best estimate of the fair value of the options at the date
of granting the options.
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Judgment is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The tax liabilities recognised are
based on management’s assessment of the likely outcome.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions and deferred
tax assets in the period in which such determination is made.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

No business segment information of the Group is presented as
the Group’s revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and capital
expenditure are primarily attributable to the manufacturing and
trading of plastic products, mainly PVC films.

No further geographical segment information is presented as
over 90% of the Group’s revenue, results and assets are
attributable to its operations in Mainland China.
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BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

6.

TURNOVER AND REVENUE

The Group's turnover, represents the net

invoiced value of goods

sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts, but

excludes intra-group transactions.

An analysis of turnover and other revenue is as follows:

ERBERHEMKE
AREZEEENEFECR 2 ERF
B AEMBEREERE SN T
ERENARAMZZ S

AEEZZZFBREMBREITOT

2008 2007
HK$"000 HK$000
—eENE —TTtE
FERT FAT
Turnover =
Sale of goods HE & m 245,099 300,334
Other revenue H b &=
Bank interest income ;AT B A 771 156
Waive of other payable % H i FE S BR X 1,933 -
Reversal of allowance for bad debts 3 & 37 tH [8] # - 133
Investment income from long RHIEWIR R 2 A& WA
term receivables 296 506
Others HAh 437 695
3,437 1,490
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BREAIEE
The Group’s loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/ REBEBzBRBATGES NG, (GFA) T
(crediting): =R
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
I e
TERT FET
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKAK 232,238 284,494
Depreciation (note 14) E (FFzE14) 9,583 10,355
Less: Amount included in cost of BBARERE
inventories sold BN 2 185 (8,854) (9,459)
729 896
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  FB {7l & k18 7 # 4 121 122
Minimum lease payments under operating T M EF 2 &2 &
leases in respect of land and buildings e mERIE 1,781 3,599
Less: Amount included in cost of BWBARERE
inventories sold AR 2 185 (647) (2,468)
1,134 1,131
Auditors’ remuneration % SN B &
— provision for the year — REERE 540 500
— underprovision in last year - FFEREBETR = 15
Employee benefits expense (excluding EERAFAZ (TEE
directors’ remuneration — note 9): EEME —MFE 9
Wages and salaries TERE& 11,557 12,028
Less: Amount included in cost of HBAREGRE
inventories sold AN 2 4858 (4,299) (5,392)
7,258 6,636
Share-based payment expenses PN A =9 1,812 1,785
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTEIHR 398 307
Net exchange loss HINPE &5 48 F RE 8,313 4,481
Bad debts * AR~ 74 243
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, HEME WEREE
plant and equipment * 2 (Wa) /B (1,455) 110
Loss on disposal of a jointly-controlled HE HE RS ¥ 2 AsiE
entity * - 113
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries* HEWB QR W = (1,006)
Gain on disposal of prepaid HEBMNBEEREZ K+
lease payments * (254) -

* These items are included in “Other operating expenses, net”

on the face of the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BBEA
2008 2007
HK$"000 HK$'000
—eENE —TTLE
FERT FAT
Interest on: T FIEZHE:
Bank loans and other loans wholly ARAFRNEBHEEZ
repayable within five years BITERREMER 3,788 3,827
Finance leases & 4 97 43
3,885 3,870
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEMS
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the FAEEZWERBEEEHAETIMER

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

AEEFETHRA([EHHRA) REE
NAMEPIE 161 B P IRBE R B T

2008 2007
HK$"000 HK$'000
—zE0f B
FET FAT
Independent non-executive directors: BIEMITES:
Fees we 180 180
Share-based payment expenses LA Rz & A 54 54
234 234
Other emoluments for executive directors: ¥1778 5 2 H b B & :
Fees we 470 786
Salaries, allowances and e 2 REWRER
benefits in kind 2,565 2,083
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTE 2 HR 34 24
Share-based payment expenses AR Rz & A 179 90
3,248 2,983
3,482 3,217
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEME @
2008 —EEN\F
Salaries,
allowances Pension Share-based
and benefits scheme payment Total
Fees in kind  contributions expenses remuneration
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fe 2l EBiKE DY S
e RENEF | ZERA Memm
FET FTHER FTHER FER FET
Executive directors: HITES:
Cheung Ming Leung KR!

Denver! 50 - - 18 68
Lam Chi Yin Henry MER 420 - - 18 438
Ng Man Kin Kenneth RX - 309 10 107 426
Tang Kuan Chien EFER - 1,200 12 18 1,230
Tang Wei Lun EEm - 1,056 12 18 1,086

470 2,565 34 179 3,248
Independent BYFEHITES:
non-executive directors:
Au Kwok Yee Benjamin (E4EIE=S 80 - - 18 98
Hung Shean | AR — 50 - - 18 68
Wong Nai Ping = 5T 50 - - 18 68
180 - - 54 234
650 2,565 34 233 3,482
' Resigned on 27 June 2007 TRIETZHERAZTEHEE
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEME @
2007 —EELF
Salaries,
allowances Pension Share-based
and benefits scheme payment Total
Fees in kind contributions expenses remuneration
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
e R RIKE LARR £ 5%
e REWEF TS ZER [aEE
FET FAT FAT FHT FHET
Executive directors: HITES:
Andy Hsiao-An Yuan Andy Hsiao-An
Yuan 220 - - 18 238
Cheung Ming Leung RAAR
Denver 50 - - 18 68
Lam Chi Yin Henry R R 420 - - 18 438
Tang Kuan Chien EER - 1,200 12 18 1,230
Tang Wei Lun EEfm 96 883 12 18 1,009
786 2,083 24 90 2,983
Independent BUFRTES:
non-executive directors:
Au Kwok Yee Benjamin (EEE:S 80 - - 18 98
Hung Shean | A 50 - - 18 68
Wong Nai Ping =5F 50 - - 18 68
180 - - 54 234
966 2,083 24 144 3,217

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2007:

HKS$Nil).

FALEEEREXLRBERBEMNHEH
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AfUBEHFMES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three FA-hfUGRaFHEERRE=U(=F

(2007: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set TEE ) EF HEZHMEFEERR

out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the EXHIFE9 e B TR (ZEZEEF - MAL)

remaining two (2007: two) non-directors, highest paid IEERRTFHEENFRZHEFED

employees for the year are as follows: I

2008 2007

HKS$'000 HK$'000

—2ENE —TTLE

FExT FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & 28 R E Y& A 889 864

Share-based payment expenses AR Rz & A 222 217

Pension scheme contributions RINSFE 23R 12 12

1,123 1,093

The remuneration of the two (2007: two) non-directors, highest WA (ZEE+F ME) EERSFH

paid employees fell within the band of nil to HK$1,000,000. BEMB < BRNZ 21,000,000 T &

eI

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to FAAEEBERAT RS ESNEM

the directors of the Company or any of the five highest paid F = 3 BE B i A AN & B S 1E AR

individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group ZHEEMZNENRE (ZET+F:F
or as compensation for loss of office (2007: Nil). BIL) o
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11.

TAXATION 1. BIE
2008 2007
HK$"000 HK$'000
—2BNE —ETLH
TET FAT
Current tax: BN EARE I8 :
Hong Kong "B
— charge for the year —FEMERX - -
— overprovision in prior years —AFEEREE = (95)
Overseas gl
— charge for the year —FEMRERX - -
— (overprovision)/underprovision —EF (BERE)
in prior years TREME (720) 61
(720) (34)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year (2007: 17.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere
have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the regions
in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

No Hong Kong profits tax have been provided as the Group
had sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against the
assessable profits for the year (2007: Nil).

One of the subsidiaries operating in Mainland China is exempt
from income tax for two years starting from its first profitable
year of operations and is entitled to a 50% relief from income
tax for the following three years under the Income Tax Law of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), which has been
loss-making since its establishment and accordingly income tax
has not been provided for the year ended 31 March 2008
(2007: Nil). For another subsidiary operating in Mainland China,
as it remains loss-making during the year, no income tax has
been provided (2007: Nil).

BEMNGRIDEFARBBEL Z AR
RBENIA17 5% 2 B ERERE (T
THF:17.5%) cHMi Rz ERMISHTD
BASBEREER 2 BAEMEZRITMR
FORBRITED BREREMFE-

BN AEEE A B #F 518 E 18 o] 8
FRAZERBGE N SIALERFTENFHR
EHEE (ZETLF:T) -

REREARLME ([FE]) AETE
ETHEPEAELZ ZHEAFHEFEE
NELEEEMFENRHMAEN ARE
B=FNEEMS0%ZAEH -REBE
PREAELEZET R B AR ES

MRZAKGEEER AEBEE-—FF
NF=ZRA=+—HIFELEELMEH
BE(CETEFT) RS —HRSP
BAELEZHBRRAFANKEES
A BIEHAERERS (T2 LF:

).
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11. TAXATION (continued) 11. H1E (@)
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of REEREEHSTIIEEE 126,159,000
HK$126,159,000 (2007: HK$125,377,000) that are available Bt (ZEZE+4:125,377,0008 7T) A
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the ERAANEHEEIREER R 2 RKER
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have Bad-ARZENEBERE BEE
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have —BREREEEB AR W R S
arisen in the companies that have been loss-making for some G EBERREEHREEE-
time.
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the BIRGE R mERANFERZ HEE 2 9k
consolidated income statement as follows: NS
GROUP AEE
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$°000
—EEnE —EELF
FET FH&ET
Loss before taxation R A5 A1 RS 18 (24,135) (18,732)
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEBEFTE 2TIE (5.766) (5,300)
Lower tax rate/tax concession for BRIEODRMFTERZ
specific provinces or local authority BERE BB ER 1,543 1,178
Income not subject to tax BARNZ WA (52,469) (41,652)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR HH 2 B 57,325 43,686
Tax allowance for capital expenditure AR 2 RIBRE (132) (65)
Overprovision in prior years THFHBERE (720) (34)
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE 142 3,295
Tax losses utilised from previous years BTFESHHHIEERE (643) (1,142)
Taxation credit TIEE % (720) (34)
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12.

13.

LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

The loss from ordinary activities attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2008 dealt with
in the financial statements of the Company, was
HK$20,544,000 (2007: HK$3,667,000) (note 31(b)).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company of HK$21,001,000 (2007: HK$18,398,000), and the
weighted average number of 408,469,000 (2007: 297,335,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2008 and
2007 have not been disclosed, as the share option granted
during both years had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss
per share for both years.

13.

ARABEBFAARBERR
EBER

KRR ZHBREATHZBEEZE_TZN
FZA=ZT—HILEFEARRERZFEA
fEMh B & 58518 /520,544,000 7T (=
TEA4:3,667,00087T) (MF3E31(b)) °

AATEBRERSEAARN
BRER

EREABENEARARLBEZEAA
fE(H ARG EE1821,001,0008 L (—FZF
+4:18,398,0008 L) R FANE #EITE
R AR 10 2 AN #E - 19 £0408,469,000%
(=TT 4:297,335,0000%) st & -

MRBE-ZEN\FZA=+—BR=-F
TLRILFEZEREBREHREEE
ZEREABBAREEYE KL K
BEXEFEZSREERHE-
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. VE - BENRRKRE

GROUP rEH
Furniture,
fixture,
equipment
Land and Leasehold Plant and and motor
building improvement equipment vehicles Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HE FR-EEEE.
T RiEF MELE BERZE BERARE oty
FET FiET FiET FHT FET
COST OR VALUATION ARG E
At 1 April 2006 R-ZEEAFMNA—H 9,204 12,368 148,039 9,461 179,072
Additions NE - - - 6,268 6,268
Disposal HE - - - (1,737) (1,737)
Reclassification ENOHE - (2,422) 2,211 211 -
Surplus on revaluation 1375’7% 1,000 - - - 1,000
Transfer to assets classified BB ZA[HHEELE
held for sale - - (28,202) - (28,202)
Exchange realignment HNE 3 74 (1,200) 9,924 1,717 10,515
At 31 March 2007 RZEZLF
ZA=+—H 10,278 8,746 131,972 15,920 166,916
Additions NE - 565 2,155 4,928 7,648
Disposal & (1,432) (316) - - (1,748)
Write-off ! - (1,827) (3,303) (4,374) (9,504)
Reclassification ENORE - 1,238 7,054 (8,292) -
Surplus on revaluation 2% 1,815 - - 1,815
Exchange realignment ENER RS (42) 698 7,886 (59) 8,483
At 31 March 2008 RZZENEF
—A=+—H 10,619 9,104 145,764 8,123 173,610
ANALYSIS OF COST OR KA EEZ AN
VALUATION
At cost DN - 9,104 145,764 8,123 162,991
At 31 March 2008 valuation R -ZZ )\ £
ZA=+—RHzi#E 10,619 - - - 10,619
10,619 9,104 145,764 8,123 173,610
ACCUMULATED Rt E
DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2006 RZZEZRFEFMA—H - 6,926 101,483 7,313 115,722
Charge for the year FRME 51 523 8,854 927 10,355
Eliminated on disposals o R B - - - (1,359) (1,359)
Reversal for transfer EXEED - - (25,382) - (25,382)
Exchange realignment 1B FH B - 1,067 5,138 1,442 7,647
At 31 March 2007 RZTT+F
=f=+—H 51 8,516 90,093 8,323 106,983
Charge for the year FAFE 273 465 8,079 766 9,583
Eliminated on disposals HERSER (69) (316) - - (385)
Eliminated on write-off MHE E R - (801) (935) (4,714) (6,450)
Reversal for revaluation EEHEED (255) - - - (255)
Exchange realignment GNE 5 & - (1,942) 6,670 247 4,975
At 31 March 2008 RZZTENF
=f=+—H - 5,922 103,907 4,622 114,451
NET BOOK VALUE REFE
At 31 March 2008 N\ZETNE
=B=+—H 10,619 3,182 41,857 3,501 59,159
At 31 March 2007 RZTT+F
=f=+—H 10,227 230 41,879 7,597 59,933

82 Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008




B EME

Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The Group’s land and buildings are held under medium term
leases outside Hong Kong.

The Group’s land and buildings were revalued by LCH (Asia-
Pacific) Surveyors Limited (“LCH"), independent professionally
qualified valuers, on the open market, existing use basis, at 31
March 2008 at HK$10,619,000 (2007: HK$10,227,000) in
aggregate. The surplus so arising has been credited to the
consolidated income statement and the asset revaluation reserve
as to HK$135,000 (2007: Nil) and HK$1,935,000 (2007:
HK$1,000,000), respectively.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, their
carrying values would have been approximately HK$7,425,000
(2007: HK$7,893,000).

The net book value of the Group’s assets held under finance
leases included in the total amount of a motor vehicle at 31
March 2008 amounted to HK$401,000 (2007: HK$567,000).

At 31 March 2007 and 2008, certain of the Group’s buildings
were pledged to secure certain credit facilities granted to the
Group (note 25).

14.

ME-BERRE @®

A% BiER BROREEUMEE T
CED

T REFHREB LI EES EREER
FBTHEMARAR ([FET])R=
T N\FZA=Z+-BEAHEMBIRREA
FERAZEEHBERASA £10,619,0005 T

—Z T+ 5:10,227,000/8 70) ° 5L E
42 B#1350008 L (ZE2LF:F)
121,935,000/ 0 (ZZZ+4:1,000,000
BIL)EDAFF A GRERERREESH
i

fii tib RIEFHRE LK AERRETE
EBmEBEBEINE EEREAERED
£7,425,000/8 7T (ZZFZ+ 4 :7,893,000
HEIL) ©

R-ZBENF=ZRA=+—H BEEAE
TREREHOFAEZEERDFER
401,000 7T (= F T L 4 :567,000/8
L) °

RZZZLF=ZA=+—BR-_ZTZEN
FAKEETETE FHRP - EUARKE
ERBETEERE (MiE25) -
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15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

15. A HEERKE

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
—EENE —ETLF
FExT FET
CosT AN B
At 1 April mEA—H 4,902 4,902
Disposal = (182) -
At 31 March W=A=+—H 4,720 4,902
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION EE ¥
At 1 April R A—B 838 716
Charge for the year FERNEE 121 122
Eliminated on disposal & W E B (38) -
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 921 838
NET BOOK VALUE BREFE
At 31 March R=ZA=+—8H 3,799 4,064
Current portion including ERFIE 2R
in prepayments, deposits and Efh R R 2
other receivables BIEAER (118) (122)
Non-current portion SEBDEREE 3,681 3,942

The prepaid lease payments in respect of a parcel of land (the
“Land”) located at Lingxia Development Area, Shishuikou
Village, Qiaotou Town, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province
of the PRC, together with a factory premises (the “Building”)
constructed thereon. The Group has not yet obtained the title
certificates for the Land and the Building because the land
premium of the Land has not yet been paid up. Having
consulted with the Group’s legal advisor in Mainland China,
the directors considered that the Group has the right to use
the Land and the Building erected thereon. After payment of
the land premium and attending the necessary administrative
procedures, the Group should be able to obtain the land use
right certificate and the realty title certificate for the Land and
the Building, respectively. The aggregate carrying values of the
Land and the Building in this respect as at 31 March 2008
amounted to approximately HK$3,799,000 and HK$10,154,000
respectively.

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China, held under a
medium term lease and was pledged to secure credit facilities
granted to the Group (note 25).
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RMIBARIZRE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
—eENE —TTLE
F#& T FET
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRMD ERAE 159,593 159,593
Provision for impairment B (147,956) (147,956)
11,637 11,637
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U Bt BB A B) 2 BB 464,313 434,414
Provision for impairment VRIERE$i] (380,521) (361,871)
83,792 72,543
Amount due to a subsidiary I B AR 2 )8 (11,459) (20,634)
83,970 63,546

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

have no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying amounts of

these amounts due from/to subsidiaries approximate to their

fair values.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
registration

Nominal value of
issued and
paid-up share/

Eﬁﬁﬁ%’“ﬂz BHLEEAR RERTR

EEEFH- /T&“LISZ/J'EHMT%
ZEEETEE@E NP EERE

A FIA

TEMBARAZFHBEHIINMT:

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities
HEmRL 2R BRITRER AABEERE
HELRER ES-$ 1 BRAEE SREL BOk TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE 5k
Bestway Group British Virgin Islands/ Us$1,100 100 - Investment holding
International Limited Hong Kong 1,700 1T REER
HEBRERHES /&%
Tectron Pacific Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
ERELEHS E REZR
Bestget Plastic Products Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100 Property holding and

Limited
Ba2BEMERATA

BB Non-voting deferred
( "Deferred”)
HK$3,900,000
(note a)
LAk2E T
mEFERELERS
(MEERM])
3,900,000/ T
(Bt5Ea)

sale of plastic products

NESBERHELBEmM
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BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Nominal value of
issued and

paid-up share/
registered capital
BRATRAR
RAEE #EREX

Place of incorporation/
registration

and operations
AL R
RigEnE

16. RMIBATZRE @)

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company
ARREERE

BO
Direct

Hi

Principal activities

TREH

Indirect

BE:3

Bestway Plastic Products
Limited
BRZBERERAA

Happy Trip Limited
EEFRRA

Rich Ocean Limited
EEERRQA

Best Faith Plastic Products
Limited
BEREEBEMERANT

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2
BE Deferred
HK$37,440,000

(note a)

L@R2E T

B R

37,440,000/ 7T

(Piista)

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2
E Deferred
HK$1,200,000

(note a)

LTmR2AET

B R G

1,200,000/ 7T

(fiEa)

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2
BH Deferred
HK$1,000,000

(note a)

LTmR2ET

ERE R

1,000,000% 7T

(fiEa)

Hong Kong HK$2,000,000
) 2,000,000/ 7T
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16.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Nominal value of

16. RBATZRE #)

Place of incorporation/ issued and Percentage of
registration paid-up share/ equity attributable
Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities
EMA L M BRARAR AAREERE
HEARAR REE BRAEE/ SHER BA TEEY
Direct Indirect
EE B
Dongguan Bestway Plastic PRC/Mainland China US$12,741,664 - 97.65  Manufacture of
Manufactory (note b) FRE B A R 12,741,664% 7T plastic products
RRERZBHEMME (Mb) SEBRBEM
Dongguan Best Faith Plastic ~ PRC/Mainland China US$6,067,580 - 100  Manufacture of
Products Limited (note ¢)  H B/ Bl AR 6,067,580% 7T plastic products
REREZREMm BEBRBEM
BRAF (Mo
Notes: Bt 5
(a) The profits which the company may determine to distribute in (a) RAAEREMVBRFESRZE

respect of any financial year shall be distributed, as regard the
first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof among the holders of
ordinary shares, with one-half of the remaining balance of the
said profits being distributed among the holders of the non-
voting deferred shares and the other half of such remaining
balance being distributed among the holders of ordinary shares.
Save as aforesaid, the non-voting deferred shares carry no
other rights to dividends. The non-voting deferred shares carry
no rights to attend or vote at general meetings, but carry the
rights to receive one-half of the balance of any surplus in a
return of capital in a winding-up after the holders of the
ordinary shares have received a total return of
HK$500,000,000,000.

(b) This subsidiary is registered as a contractual joint venture under
the PRC law.
(c) This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-owned foreign

enterprise under the PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

1,000,000,000,0005% 7T 3t ¥ #§ 2 & F

TR AA EUEFSBEZ —¥
BORTFERERELEROZFBEA
MZzpEz S —FADIkFLBERS
BB LB SN EIRFRIEER G
HERENZERE -EREBELERD
TR T A ARA L RRR K E K
RNEgERE EREREFARIERIERR
EAR EEARFEARRBERR
#8500,000,000,0005% 7T 1% U B E #2{T
MRz —¥-

(b) B AR DREFEEMEMRAS

WA ERF-

(c) U E AR DRERBEDEMIEM AR
SNERE

EZRRLEREIIZARRMBRE T Y
AEBFRAZEBEEERTE IBUAK
SEEEFEZIERD EERRET
HitMB AR ZHIEEERBREMNBR
e
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18.

19.

17. INTEREST IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY  17. {GHEEFLEER
On 11 May 2006, the Group’s entire 25% of equity interest in RZZERFEFRA+T—HB FrEEFEBH
Shenzhen Wuye Jifa Warehouse Company Limited (“SWJ") was ERERNMESEEREER LA (IS
disposed of through the disposal of the Group’s entire equity EER]) 25% % & 2 Luen Fat Hong
interest in Luen Fat Hong Investment Limited, which holds the Investment Limited & &z - HEH & A
25% equity interest in SWJ. 2B 25% 2 -
LONG TERM RECEIVABLES 18. REAEWERR
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
—zE0f EE
FERT FHETT
Long term receivables = HA JE U5 BR 5Kk 2,660 2,643
The Group’s long term receivables represent investments in REE 2 R HEWIRFRIER AR | 7l i &
Chengdu Xingxing Rich Ocean Plastic Products Co., Ltd. (“CD RAIKBHEEELRAEREGR QA
Rich Ocean”), a former subsidiary of the Company, in respect ([REEL]) BEARHEFABEEEBY
of which there is subcontracting arrangement with the PRC RAB—EERBME - BEBEREDGE ~AEE
joint venture partner. In accordance with the subcontracting LA FE WS E BB AR 38 5B FF B IREITE R A ED
agreement, the Group forfeited its rights to exercise significant EECHBRISERRZEEREN &
influence/control over the financial and operating policy BN BEE-_T—MF AL BHFD
decisions of CD Rich Ocean in return for fixed and guaranteed ¥RBEABERATFEREERETE
annual subcontracting fees up to 2014. When this entity lost BB AR HEEHME AR H
its status as subsidiary or jointly-controlled entity of the Group BEEHHEARAEREN
pursuant to the above agreement in prior years, this was
reclassified as long term receivable accordingly.
INVENTORIES 19. 7€
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
—Z2ENF ZETLF
FET FHETT
Raw materials JR 1 # 15,728 23,294
Finished goods BIpK 3,349 1,074
19,077 24,368
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. BEZEUWERN
GROUP EE

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
S L —TTLE
TET FAT
Trade receivables Z 5 AR 49,068 48,723
The Group’s trading term with its customers generally have REE-—RERPIVEEHESTAR
credit terms of up to 60 days and non-interest bearing (except REBZESER (BRETHBOR A EE-
for certain well-established customers having strong financial BRESRITREBRIFZERBARTPIN
strength, good repayment history and credit worthiness, where HEEHALERRNTH) aREEE
the credit terms are extended to 90 days). Overdue balances 15 7E B4R 5 480 HA 45 &4 o E 0 A _E Pt 2 AR
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the SEZESREERIRZZIEAZE

aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables PrirEERER ZERER-

relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables net of allowance BRWEFRRES B 2R T
for doubtful debts was as follows: T

GROUP EE

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

—EENFE ZEELF

FERT FAT

Within 30 days 30HA 23,878 21,973

31 to 60 days 31HZ60H 10,481 11,733

61 to 90 days 61HZ90H 11,802 11,635

Over 90 days 90H K 2,907 3,382

49,068 48,723
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past due but
not impaired are as follows:

20.

5 EWRR @)

B EE R RS B 5 MR R B A T
W

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

—EENE —ETtF

FET FET

Within 30 days 30BAR 8,221 1,430
31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 2,238 1,576
61 to 90 days 61HE90H 57 492
Over 90 days 908 M + 73 313
10,589 3,811

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
believe that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the
year is as follows:

228 BB R ORI 2 B W TR D S — HE B
SEBERMRFHEBZBIRFAR- B
REEERIBERNEEH RARITIAT LA
sEEHE REBELER EFHELEL

e

Fhx F

SHRMBMIEHRERB AREYLE

BRI A TR E MR-

FARBRBESH 2REIMOT -

2008 2007

HKS$’000 HK$'000

—2ENE B s

FExT FAETT

At the beginning of year RE AT - 3,169
Uncollectible amounts written off i85 K B Ui 01 B 28 - (3,036)
Recovered during the year REAE B IR - (133)
At the end of year RER = -
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21.

22.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

The Group’s bank deposits of HK$11,541,000 as at 31 March
2008 (2007: HK$8,370,000) were pledged for trust receipt
loans and other short term trade financing facilities granted to
the Group (note 25). The pledged deposit is denominated in
the United States dollars, other than the functional currency
of respective group entities, and subject to currency risk. The
deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 1.7% to 3.8%
per annum (2007: 3.8% to 4.25% per annum). The carrying
amounts of the pledged deposits approximate to their fair

21.

BEAEK

AEBR -_ZEZENF=ZA=+—HZIEIT
7 311,541,000 0 (Z 2 ZT + F:
8,370,000/ 7T) E st RIBE R R H A
BYALECCHESREEEE T UK
(M 3E25) - BEMIFRUETINE T
EUSERBEBRENNEELTE WA
AZINERB - FHRIZEF17%E3.8%

“ETHF EBFE38%EAL25%) ZET
FEFE - EEBPFR2EMEREAF

values. EEMBES-
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITHEEREAS
GROUP COMPANY
AEE KA T
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$°000 HK’000 HK$'000 HK’'000
—EENEF —ET+F —EEN\F —ET+F
TERT FE&T FET FA&T
Bank balances and cash WITHETFRIRE 35,251 35,233 99 20,702

As at 31 March 2008, the bank balances and cash of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“"RMB”) amounted to
approximately HK$1,349,000 (2007: HK$906,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts of the bank balances
and cash approximate to their fair values.

RIZEZNF=ZA=+—H AEEUA
RE(TAREDWEZRTEFREAS
4 51,349,000 Tt (Z T T + F:
906,000/ L) - AR A B B H iR E A
EHE IR IRIE R BISMEE 05 R R EIE
HEE HERTIIMEEE AEEEES
BEFEFEITIMERE R 2 RITIEARE X8
BHEHME -

RITREBURITEMERNELHEEY
M EEEBRAE - ROTAEFRESZE
HESEEAFEERE
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23. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 23. IHEHEEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
—EENE —EELE
FET F&T
At the beginning of year REAT 2,820 -
Transfer from property, plant and mWE - BELRREEA
equipment (note 14) (Ft5E14) - 2,820
Sold during the year REARNEE (2,820) -
At the end of year REFER — 2,820
In January 2007, the Group entered into a sale and purchase RZEZLF— R REBEFVEE HE
agreement to dispose of certain machines. The disposal was HEBEKE- HEER ST LF LA
completed in July 2007, in which the beneficial ownership has TR EREREEREEETEES
been passed to the acquirer.
24. TRADE PAYABLES 24, ESEMER

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the balance sheet
date, based on invoice date, is as follows:

REER REEEHTEZESENE
W

+h BE #A
HERER D

GROUP rEE
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$°000
—Z2ENF —EELE
FERT FH&T
Within 30 days 30BA 7,348 13,113
31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 4,021 6,894
61 to 90 days 61HZ=90H 1,696 7,861
Over 90 days 908 KA & 1,793 5,714
14,858 33,582

AEBEZEZRNER 2 EREREEAF
EBEMRAE-

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables approximate
to their fair values.
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25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. FFERTREMEE
BORROWINGS
GROUP rEH
Effective 2008 2007
interest rate Maturity HK$°000 HK$°000
BRI = FHA —EENE —TT LR
FHT FHT
Current
BN HA
Finance lease payables (note 26) 7% 2008 182 167
Bl & T 40 P A RIE (M 5E26)
Bank loans — secured US dollar best lending 2008 25,517 19,707
rate minus 1.25%
BITER —FHEMA ETHBEER
FER1.25%
7% 2008 20,076 20,246
Other borrowings — secured 12% 2008 - 2,633
HiEs - AHHA
Other borrowings — unsecured 6% On demand 1,000 546
HiEE — EEiH A Uk B (B 58
46,775 43,299
Non-current
I BN &7
Finance lease payables (note 26) 9% 2009 - 2010 310 448
BhE A 40 P A RIE (M 5E26)
Other borrowings — secured 12% 2009 - 2012 11,079 10,123
HimEE - FHHA
11,389 10,571
58,164 53,870
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

25.

FEETREMEBE @)

GROUP REH
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
—sENF e
FET F&T
Analysed into: DT A
Bank loans repayable: AR THRBEE RITER:
Within one year or on demand R—F AR ERHREER 45,593 39,953
Other borrowings repayable: AR TIHRAEREZHEMEE:
Within one year or on demand R —F AR EHRER 1,000 3,179
In the second year REZF 2,493 10,123
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZFNFE (BREEEWF) 8,586 -
12,079 13,302
Finance lease payables: AR TIIRAEE ZRERLD:
Within one year or on demand B —F A sk A BB (8 2 182 167
In the second year REZF 199 182
In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZFLF (BREREEWNF) 111 266
492 615
58,164 53,870

As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s bank and other borrowings

were secured by:

(i) A pledge of the Group’s time deposits amounting to

HK$11,541,000 (2007: HK$8,370,000) (note 21);
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

25.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

A legal charge on the Land and the Building. The net
book values of the Land and the Building were
approximately HK$3,799,000 (2007: HK$4,064,000) and
HK$10,154,000 as at 31 March 2008 (2007:
HK$8,454,000), respectively (notes 15 and 14);

Unlimited joint and several personal guarantees executed
by a director and his spouse to the extent of
HK$25,517,000, for a bank loan granted to the Group
in the amount of HK$25,517,000 as at 31 March 2008
(2007: HK$19,707,000); and

Unlimited joint and several corporate guarantee
executed by a subsidiary and personal guarantee
executed by a director to the extent of HK$20,076,000
for a bank loan granted to the Group in the amount of
HK$20,076,000 as at 31 March 2008 (2007:
HK$20,246,000).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current and non-current
borrowings approximate to their fair values.

25.

FERTREMEBE @)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

T RIEFZIEAERIFo R LM
BFR-_ZZN\F=A=+—H
2 BREDFE S 549 43,799,0007%8
T (ZZE 4 :4,064,000% 7T)
110,154,000 0 (Z T 4
8,454,000/ L) (MisE15%14) :

—REERHERBMELCER
BHERAERBZEAERE
25,517,000 0 FEER T F
NF=ZA=+—HBEET
25,517,000 7L ( Z T+ F:
19,707,000/ L) 2 RITE R &

—HWBARME L 2 MREH
RARBILIARERR —BESAHN
%3 2 B A ¥E 1R /2 20,076,000%
T AEER -_TETZNF=ZA=1
— HE#® F20,076,000 L ( ==&
T 4F:20,246,00008 7T) 2 B 17
Bke

AEBE B RFABER Z RHERE
NFEERE
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e

26. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 26. MEMENEMNRE
The Group leases a motor vehicle for its business operations. REFEEE -—WMAIBFEBEERG %
The lease was classified as a finance lease and had a remaining EHNY ARERY B TcHERE=
lease term of three years. Fo
At 31 March 2008, the total future minimum lease payments RZEENF=A=+—H RBEMEH
under finance leases and their present values were as follows: Bz RREPBEROFZIRLBRLHARE
LN
GROUP N EE
Minimum Present value of
lease payments minimum lease payments
BOBOHA BOBNKE2RE
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$°000 HK’000 HK$°000 HK’000
—EENE —EELF —EENE —ETLF
FExT FET FET FH&ET
Amounts payable: ARTIEEEREZ
JE R IE
Within on year —F K 219 219 182 167
In the second year REZF 219 219 199 182
In the third to fifth years, REZZFRF
inclusive (BHREEME) 109 329 111 266
547 767 492 615
Future finance charges HEBBSZH (55) (152) = -
492 615 492 615
Portion classified as current JItEREB BB B
liabilities (note 25) (Bt 5 25) (182) (167)
Non-current portion (note 25) e B & (FF5E25)
310 448
27. PROVISION 27. B
The Group provides for the probable future long service RNEBRBEEBERBGOIRTEINBEA R
payments expected to be made to employees under the Hong XNEEZRBRGSIELEE FEF
Kong Employment Ordinance, as further explained under the BERUMBHREMIINMEERF ] —BE
heading “Employee benefits” in note 3 to the financial it o A 85750008 L (ZE T £ F:
statements. The provision for long service payments of 575,000/ 7T) 2 RHIRBE € BE HIERE
HK$575,000 (2007: HK$575,000) is based on the best estimate EREERARERAEEmMEER 218
of the probable future payments which have been earned by BB HZEMAETHE
the employees from their services to the Group to the balance
sheet date.
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Note:

On 23 August 2007, the Company entered into the subscription

agreement with Wealthy Pod Limited (“Wealthy Pod”), a company

incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability. An aggregate
of 51,000,000 shares at a price of HK$0.41 per share were allotted
and issued to Wealthy Pod. The subscription agreement was completed

on 22 October 2007.

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. KA
Number Nominal
of shares value
R #E HE
‘000 HK$'000
FHB FRR
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2006 RZTEZERNFMNA—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each Tk ZREEIE T 24,000,000 240,000
Capital reduction % 2 BI R - (120,000)
Share consolidation &% 17 & Bf (22,800,000) -
At 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008 @ R_-_ZEZ+F=A=+—HR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each —EENF=ZA=1+—8H
TRRERMEEC1ET 1,200,000 120,000
Issued and fully paid: ERETRARRKRA:
At 1 April 2006 —EERFMA—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each LRRERMAE0IET 5,145,274 51,453
Capital reduction % 2 BI R - (25,726)
Share consolidation &% 17 & Bf (4,888,010) -
Right issue HARET 128,632 12,863
At 31 March 2007 RZEZTLF=A=+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each LTRRERMAEC1BIT 385,896 38,590
Issue of shares by placements (note) FERELE TR () 51,000 5,100
At 31 March 2008 RZTEZENF=A=+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each TERHEREMEIBT 436,896 43,690

i3]

th

RZZT+LFNAZ+=ZH KRR HREE
B B &R K L 2 B BR A ® Wealthy Pod
Limited ([ Wealthy Pod] ) T RE W U
&A% 15 0.41%8 7T 2 B 388 & #£51,000,0008%
Brh-REWHEER _ZTLtF+A=-+=H

SR
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29.

30.

= \E=H=+1— B L FE For the year ended 31 March 2008

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the new shares
issues, the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of shareholders held on 19
August 2003, a new share option scheme, details of which
appeared in a circular to shareholders of 25 July 2003, was
approved.

On 25 September 2006, the Company has granted 281,000,000
share options to directors and employees at exercise price of
HK$0.035 per share.

On 14 December 2006, the Company passed a resolution of
Capital Reorganisation by the shareholders at the special general
meeting involving:

- the capital reduction involves a reduction in the nominal
value of each existing share in issue of HK$0.01 to
HK$0.005;
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BREFE @)

- the share consolidation will be implemented whereby — BETRmEas BERAFTEETR
20 existing shares of HK$0.005 each in the issued or REITIRAF AR A BB T E &
unissued share capital of the Company resulting from 2 F200 T REE0.005% 7T 2 3R
the capital reduction will be consolidated into one BERMHEaM A —REMEROI0E
consolidated Share of HK$0.10. T2 A PR o

As a result, the share options exercise price need to be Hit R=FER"EF+-A+HA BRE

consolidated at HK$0.70 per share and the number of share ZITEBAEASHABRTOE L MATE

options granted need to be consolidated to 14,050,000 share BERR A 20 B A& 0F 5 14,050,00017 B8 iR
options on 15 December 2006. HEo

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed (a) HE_ZTZZ+F=A=1+—HL1L
during the year ended 31 March 2007 are as follows, FEANBERHCERE ZGHRR
whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of AT - BRI BT B 8 AR S A
shares: f& B2 AR A2

Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
IHA#A 5B R BRESHTEH
'000
8
Options granted to directors:
BTESZZHERE:
- on 25 September 2006 490 Immediately from the date of grant 1.5 years
—-RITEEXRFALAZ-+EHA ZRERTHBS 1.5%F
490 0.75 year from the date of grant 0.75 year
& HHR0.75F 0.754F
Options granted to employees:
BTES ZHERHE:
—on 25 September 2006 6,535 Immediately from the date of grant 1.5 years
—-RZEERFNLAZTEH ZEXTHH 1.5
6,535 0.75 year from the date of grant 0.75 year
BT HAR0.754F 0.75%F
Total share options 14,050
PR R A B
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BREFE @)
The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) BEREIHB RMEFHITEE
share options are as follows: wmr:
2008 2007
—EENE =
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of option exercise price of option
000 ‘000
hn#EF 15 N1
TREE BRZHA TR (E Bz 2B
T T
Outstanding at the FEARITE
beginning of the year HK$0.70 14,050 - -
Granted during the year ~ EREH - - HK$0.70 14,050
Expired during the year FERE™ HK$0.70 (14,050) - -
Outstanding at the end of F &R KIT{E
the year - - HK$0.70 14,050
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BREFE @)
(c) Fair value of share options and (c) BREATFERRBR

assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share BRTYTBREMBBMASRBE A
options granted are measured by reference to the fair TEEDSEMEHEREZA
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair FEEMAZ-MERE2AFE
value of the services received is measured based on B DREBERA DR —FRETH
Black — Scholes OPM model. The contractual life of the BEBRAMAE-ERIELELD
option is used as an input into this model. Expectations FHRAERER ZFETR R
of early exercise are incorporated into the Black — RO zBEE AR OR —&F
Scholes OPM model. METEAEEEERN -

25.9.2006

—EERFAA=-+EA

Fair value at measurement date it E2BHHZ AFEE HK$0.0113, HK$0.0133 and HK$0.0153
0.0113/%700.0133/% 7T 2 0.0153/& 7T

Share price f& 1D B 18 HK$0.035
0.035% 7T

Exercise price TEE HK$0.035
0.035% 7T

Expected volatility TEER B 100.45%
100.45%

Option life 5 I 4 2 0.75 to 1.5 years
0.75F 1.54

Expected dividends TEEAIR B K 0%
0%

Risk free interest rate = [ b ) & 3.56% - 3.62%

3.56%%3.62%

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility. TEHRE W AE L B REE E - TEH
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. REETNRELRERKE - FTERK
Changes in the subjective input assumption could BERA R HMhET AT EEBKEAY
materially affect the fair value estimate. 2o

BERERZEEERAF s — 22N F4H% 101



%

MEEEME

Notes to the Financial Statements

BE-ZTZT/\F=HB=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

RESERVES

31.

(a)

GROUP

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result
of the Group reorganisation prior to its public listing on
2 October 1995 and represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the former holding
company of the Group acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation, over the nominal value of the shares of
the Company issued in exchange therefore.

Share-based payment reserve represent the fair value
of employee services estimated to be received in
exchange for the grant of the relevant options over the
relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on
the fair value of the options at grant date. The amount
for each period is determined by spreading the fair value
of the options over the relevant vesting periods (if any)
and is recognised as staff costs and related expenses
with a corresponding increase in the share-based
payment reserve.
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31. RESERVES (continued) 31. ﬁﬁ (#)
(b) COMPANY (b) &XAF
Share-based
Share Contributed payment Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WA
17 )4 B EHEHS #iE 25 ER oty
FET FHT FHT FHT FET
1 April 2006 R-BEAEMA—8 689 159,393 - (154,695) 11,590
Capital reduction F% A< H - - - 25,726 25,726
Share-based payment  LARER G2
expenses - - 1,785 - 1,785
Rights issue AR EAT 7,718 - - - 7,718
Loss for the year FNEE - - - (3,667) (3,667)
At 31 March 2007 R_ZTLF
=B=+—H 14,610 159,393 1,785 (132,636) 43,152
Issue of new shares BATH D 15,810 - - - 15,810
Share-based payment  MABRHZ 2z &R
expenses - - 1,812 - 1,812
Expiry of share options & % 4 /2 - - (3,597) 3,597 -
Loss for the year FREE - - - (20,544) (20,544)
At 31 March 2008 R-ZBZNF
=H=+-H 30,420 159,393 - (149,583) 40,230
The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a RARZEHBRTIBME31(a)
result of the Group reorganisation referred to in note Fritz SSE S AR EIPTE A T948
31(a), and represents the excess of the then combined ERUEE 2 B A R E R %
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over the nominal ZEHEEFE MEAEZREE
value of the share capital of the Company issued in MBETZARBRAEBERME
exchange therefor. o
Share-based payment reserve referred to 31(a) represent B 3 31 (a) BT 3t 89 A BR (X 51 (58 48 95
the fair value of employees services estimated to be HETEEREASEBIAERHER
received in exchange for the grant of the relevant vesting BUBRRREEEGEBER 2 AT
periods. BEE-
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH 32.
FLOW STATEMENT

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group (a)
disposed of its entire interests in Luen Fat Holding
Investment Limited, Champion City Limited and Full
Happy Limited at a consideration of HK$4,040,000. The
net assets of the disposed subsidiaries at the date of
disposal are summarised as follows:

RERERBRME

AEBEREBE-_TTLF=A=
T —HIEFE R LA4,040,0007
JC 4 & Luen Fat Holding
Investment Limited ~ Champion City
Limited 2 & XN BR 27 2 A #
moHHEZHBARIRNEHERZ

BEFELENT:

HK$'000
FAET

Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE:
Investment in joint venture HEZEHGEZE= 3,889
Bank balances and cash RITHEFLER S 4
Other payables and accruals E b E RN BT B (26)
Interest-bearing other borrowings Htst BEE (833)
3,034
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB QR Z&F 1,006

Satisfied by: HE

Cash consideration received BUERERE 4,040

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is
as follows:

BRLEMNBARZASNERREAR
ZRMANFEDIFMT

HK$'000

FAET

Cash consideration received Bl ZESRE 4,040
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZHRTEFERS (4)
4,036

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year ended 31 REHE-ZETL+F=ZA=+—BILFE"
March 2007 did not contribute significantly to the HEMNBAREAEEFAZ K REE

Group's revenue and net loss for the current year.
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s contingent liabilities

33. AREE

REEB BHRREBEREZAREL

not provided for in the financial statements were as follows: REBBEWT:
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$°000
—sENF —ETLs
FTER FHET
Guarantees of banking facilities granted ME . E = F & H ZRITEEER
to independent third parties 6,647 6,074

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect
of the cross guarantee as its fair value cannot be reliably
measured and its transaction price was $Nil.

34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office premises and staff quarters
under operating lease commitments. Leases for premises are
negotiated for terms for two years. The terms of the leases
generally require the Group to pay deposits.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling
due as follows:

34,

MR XERZAFEETEREMBE
B BEXGERAT BAKELEMLR
X ERFEREMELUA -

REMNEAE

AEBERBEERNAEERENAE
EREBIEE - BHMERNAEEBELY
HAMFE - HOZHER—REBRAEE
iR e -

REER AEERBETITRBECERLY
A T 5 BB B HR A 2 R SR D BR 3k 48
EBaR

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

—ZEENF ZETLF

TET FAT

Within one year —F A 66 4,330
In the second to fifth years, inclusive REZEZEEFRLF (BREEREMSE) - 1,212
66 5,542
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. BEAREE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in B b= SO EE34FT i 2 4 & T A A HE S AR
note 34 above, the Group had the following commitments at SEREERE NIRE:
the balance sheet date:
GROUP COMPANY
TEE AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
Notes HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK'000
—EENF —EELEF —Z2ENF —EELEF
B 3 FET FET FET F& T
Contracted, but not B R 418 R B
provided for:
Capital contribution to B AR EARER
a subsidiary (a) 30,606 10,854 - -
Prepaid lease payments AN HERE (b) 9,286 8,853 = -
Construction of FEEERE
a production plant 212 3,374 - -
40,104 23,081 = _
(a) A contracted commitment was in respect of capital contribution (a) TR R B K BE AR 7 B A A
to a subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) operating in Mainland China (IHBATR)MERNEEZETL
amounting to US$3,932,000 (equivalent to approximately AER - EENE=A=+—H

HK$30,606,000) at 31 March 2008, which was due for payment

in June 2009.

(b) The Group had unprovided commitments of RMB8,382,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$9,286,000) in respect of the
land premium for a parcel of land located in Dongguan, the

PRC.
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36.

37.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to those transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group also
had the following significant transactions with related
parties during the year:

(i) Certain of the Group’'s loan facilities were
supported/pledged by personal guarantees
executed by certain directors of the Company
and the spouse of one of the directors of the
Company, as further disclosed in note 25 to the
financial statements.

(ii) The key management personnel are the directors
of the Company. The details of the remuneration
paid to them are set out in note 9.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, finance leases, cash and
short term deposits. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and
credit risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings and
other borrowings with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed and
floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. Floating rate interest income and expenses are
credited/charged to the income statement as earned/incurred.
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest rate risk to reduce
or maintain its current level of interest bearing borrowings.

At balance sheet date, a hypothetical one percentage point
increase/decrease in interest rates on the short-term bank
borrowings, that are carried at variable rates would increase/
decrease the interest expense as follows:

37.

BEEREEREBFREARE
()

MR (&)
A B TR T B L SR AL B DA R A 3
BEEIB AT EBEKF.

SR 40 M IRAT IS B 2 P s
R —HE DB B R F B X R T
2, WD

2008 2007

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E2ENF ZETLF

FET FH&ET

Increase/decrease in interest expense BRI MWD 255 197

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the unit’s functional currency. Given that the Hong
Kong dollars are pegged to USD, management do not expect
the Group has significant foreign exchange exposure to USD
and hence the Group has no hedging policy on USD.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MBEBREREBSRHEBX
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SNE R BE ()
Sensitivity analysis HBE 5T
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance TRERNEMAEMEHOGRETE ZIE
sheet date to a reasonably possible change in RMB exchange AT AEERBAIBEEYREERAR
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s BEEXRPRE IR v & KB GUXRE (B
loss before taxation, in respect of the financial assets and REBEERVBEEREER RS
financial liabilities based on their carrying amounts at the BEEBMY) -

balance sheet date.

Increase
Increase (decrease) in
(decrease) in loss before
exchange rate taxation
HK$'000
BB AT
ERIE M ORD) EEEm R )
FET
2008 —BRENF
- if Hong Kong dollars weaken against ~ — E&LH N EARE 2555
foreign currencies RMB -5% (5,117)
— if Hong Kong dollars strengthen —EBTHIMNEARKZRE
against foreign currencies RMB 5% 5,117
2007 —EELF
- if Hong Kong dollars weaken against ~ — BB LH N EARE 2555
foreign currencies RMB -5% (5,496)
— if Hong Kong dollars strengthen —EBTHINEARKZRE
against foreign currencies RMB 5% 5,496
The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging N6 B IR I I R A JNE E R BRI
policy to eliminate the currency exposures to RMB. However, AREAE2 BERB AN BEESR
management monitors the related foreign currency exposure NEEEM@IINERR WRBREREE
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency ] R B K G E R B

exposures should the need arise.
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e

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. BEREEBRRERE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk REESERR
The Group maintains a balance between continuity of funding REEZEBFERITLEMEE HIFE
and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and SRHERERBEETEZEZFYEH-ART
other borrowings. The directors of the Company have reviewed EFERIAEBZEEES RERTH
the Group's working capital and capital expenditure FE URALAEBUEESAZRDES
requirements and determined that the Group has no significant 2 B2
liquidity risk.
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual TREIIREBY BB G2 FHRE DD E
maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-derivative financial BZ#FE s B aEms iR
liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the BEAEEERFHREREEVHEAR
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 2R MBEEZRMRRETEMRE-

earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

GROUP rE
Within More than More than
1 year or 1 year but 2 years but
on less than less than
demand 2 years 5 years Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR BB -fF BBWE
FRER BLRME BLIREEF mat
TR TR T T FTERT
2008 —EENF
Trade payables 2 5 E R 14,858 - - 14,858
Other payables and accruals H e - BR 3 %
J& 5T 3R IE 19,758 - - 19,758
Interest-bearing bank and AERITREMEE
other borrowings 46,775 2,692 8,697 58,164
81,391 2,692 8,697 92,780

110 Bestway International Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2008



B EME

Notes to the Financial Statements

37.

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

37.

HHEEREERFRERE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEE R &)
COMPANY ¥
Within More than More than
1 year or 1 year but 2 years but
on less than less than
demand 2 years 5 years Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR HiB—F HBWF
RIRER BLRMEF BELREF et
FET FET THERT TERT
2008 —EENF
Amount due to a subsidiary FET M B A B 5kIE 11,459 - - 11,459
Other payables and accruals Hib ERERRR
FE T 5RIA 308 - - 308
11,767 - - 11,767
GROUP EE
Within More than More than
1 year or 1 year but 2 years but
on less than less than
demand 2 years 5 years Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR il —F BB F
R ER BLRME BIRAEF et
FET FET FET FET
2007 —ETELHF
Trade payables B 5 RN BRR 33,582 - - 33,582
Other payables and accruals H ) & 1~ BR 3R K
FEFT IR 22,990 - - 22,990
Interest-bearing bank and AERTREMES
other borrowings 43,299 10,305 266 53,870
99,871 10,305 266 110,442
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MiKEBEERBZERE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REEE R &)
COMPANY NN
Within More than More than
1 year or 1 year but 2 years but
on less than less than
demand 2 years 5 years Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR BB —F B B
HIREK B F BAIRESF Pk
FET FET FHET FH&ET
2007 —ZETtLF
Amount due to a subsidiary B B A Bl 3kE 20,634 - - 20,634
Other payables and accruals HihERBRRR
& &t R IE 2,665 - - 2,665
23,299 - - 23,299

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or
rates from observable current market transactions as input.

The directors consider that the fair value of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximates to the carrying
amount.
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
that counterparties fail to perform their obligations as at 31
March 2008 in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated balance sheet.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade
receivables, credit limits and credit terms granted to customers
should be approved by delegated officers and follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the majority
of the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
as at 31 March 2008 is mainly from five major customers which
accounted for 33% (2007: 29%) of trade receivables mainly
from Hong Kong. The Group has closely monitored the
recoverability of trade receivables and taken effective measures
to ensure timely collection of outstanding balances.

37.
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38. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

(i)

On 18 June 2008, Tectron Pacific Limited (“Tectron”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
an acquisition agreement with Center Zone Holdings
Limited (the “Vendor”) pursuant to which Tectron has
agreed to acquire and the Vendor has agreed to sell (a)
the entire issued shares of Dahlia Group Limited
(“Dahlia”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Vendor
(“First Sale Share”); (b) the face value of the loans
outstanding as at the completion date made by or on
behalf of the Vendor to Dahlia (“First Sale Loan”); (c)
the entire issued shares of Fullday Group Limited
(“Fullday”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Vendor
(“Second Sale Share”); and (d) the face value of the
loans outstanding as at the completion date made by
or on behalf of the Vendor to Fullday (“Second Sale
Loan").

The aggregate consideration for the First Sale Share
and First Sale Loan shall be HK$1,280,000,000 (subject
to adjustments), which is to be satisfied to the extent
of HK$15,000,000 by refundable deposit in cash; to
the extent of HK$1,185,000,000 by issue of zero coupon
convertible bonds (“First Conversion Shares”); and to
the extent of HK$80,000,000 by issue of zero coupon
promissory notes.

The aggregate consideration for the Second Sale Share
and Second Sale Loan shall be HK$5,700,000,000
(subject to adjustments), which is to be satisfied by
issue of zero coupon convertible bonds (“Second
Conversion Shares”).

The proposed transaction is subject to, inter alia, the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at a special
general meeting, the relevant parties obtaining approval
from the Stock Exchange to grant the listing of, and
permission to deal in First and Second Conversion
Shares.

HK$15,000,000 has been paid to the Vendor as deposit
of the possible acquisition on 9 July 2008. Details of
this potential acquisition were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement on 9 July 2008.

114  Bestway International Holdings Limited » Annual Report 2008

38.

HERRER

(i)

RZZEZENFESATNE K27
2 & W B A & Tectron Pacific
Limited ( [ Tectron] ) £ Center
Zone Holdings Limited ([& 75 1)
FiIMEHE - BRIEZRE
Tectron IEWEEREFRELE
()& 5 2 &l B 2 "lDahlia Group
Limited ( [Dahlia] ) 2 22 B 317
B (TE—HERKD]) ((DEFH
£ X B 5 [ADahlia FTE i &
BEEFXRZZ T AR EHE
([E—HEEBEF])  QEHEZE
B & A A Fullday Group Limited
([Fullday] ) 2z &2 3B & TR M
(TB_HERN ) RAE A X
REE A Fullday FT1EH &K (&
BEXRARSTHAHZEE
([BZEEEK]) -

F-HERDEE—HEERZ
(& &1,280,000,0005% 7T (8
AFIEE) 15,000,000 7T A
RETNERAMRERS HAp
1,185,000,0008 L EBEITE R
AR ES ([F— SRR m )
S R E 80,000,000 TTiE B
BOTEBERREREI e

FEHERNDEE_HEERZ
4818 4&5,700,000,0005 7© (3
HFE) BBEBBETTETRRK

ZREBRHAF (RFEE) AR
AIRRRERER RS L4E- B
Mo HESBIMIES — 1Rk
F_HABEBRHETREER

EHAER-ZETNFELANBE
¥ 115,000,000/ JT° 1E A& 7] g
TWEE 2 RS-t — AR RE#ETTIR
BRFBEEEREARRIAHA S
TZZNFLANBZ Ao



-~

B EME

Notes to the Financial Statements

BZE_ZTT\F=H=+1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

38. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT (continued)

(i)

On 20 June 2008, Bestway Group International Limited
(“Bestway GI”) and Rich Ocean Limited (“Rich Ocean”),
each of which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as vendors on the one part, have entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Eastern Wide
Investments Limited (“the Disposal Purchaser”), as
purchaser of the other part, pursuant to which Bestway
Gl has agreed to sell the entire issued shares of Best
Faith Plastic Products Limited, Bestway Plastic Products
Limited and Bestget Plastic Products Limited, (collectively
as the “Disposal Sale Shares”) and the Disposal Sale
Loans to the Disposal Purchaser and Rich Ocean has
agreed to sell the Sale Machineries to the Disposal
Purchaser.

The aggregate disposal consideration shall be
HK$78,800,000 (subject to adjustments), which is to
be settled by the Disposal Purchaser to the extent of
HK$1,000,000 refundable deposit in cash; and to the
extent of HK$77,800,000 by cashier order in favour of
Bestway Gl (for itself and on behalf of Rich Ocean) or
as it may direct or in such other manner as may be
agreed between Bestway Gl (for itself and on behalf of
Rich Ocean) and the Disposal Purchaser.

HK$1,000,000 has been received from the Disposal
Purchaser on 9 July 2008. Details of this potential
disposal were disclosed in the same Company’s
announcement on 9 July 2008 as mentioned in note
38(i) above.
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39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 18 July 2008.
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